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PROPOSAL FOR EARLY LEARNING 2020/2021 

See Early Learning page https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Programs/earlylearning/Pages/default.aspx#/=   

Virtual StrongStart:  

 Weekly newsletter sent out to registered families and posted on the Virtual StrongStart website 

( https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Programs/earlylearning/Pages/covid19earlylearning.aspx#/= )  

 Instagram- sd47strongstart- daily posts.  

o Monday- Letter of the Week 
o Tuesday- StrongStart Smile Search 
o Wednesday- I-Spy 
o Thursday- Around Powell River (People and Places) 
o Friday- Good Citizen of the House 

ORCA Bus:  

4 mornings on the ORCA Bus (2 hour program). This program would run rain or shine.  

Monday- Timberlane Park  

Wednesday- Sunset Park 

Thursday- Willingdon Beach 

Friday- Larry Gouthro Park.  

 

General program outline:  

 Gross motor activities 

 Wonder walk 

 Circle- stories and songs  

The program is being offered in collaboration with the ORCA Bus project managed by the Powell River 

and District United Way. Destinations may vary as we work through the school year, but keeping close 

to town while we establish new routines. This program will not run as a drop-in, and will be limited to 6 

children and their significant adult(s). Attendance will take place electronically (ipad) or by using a QR 

code to access the attendance sheet using personal devices.  

Plan is to offer the first program on Wednesday September 30. New processes for sign-up, attendance 

and registration are being developed presently. Participants will be required to confirm symptom free 

status when they attend programming and agree to the StrongStart policies and procedures presently 

being finalized.  

Outdoor StrongStart Program:  

The general program outline followed on the ORCA Bus will also be offered as an outdoor program at 

Elementary schools. The outdoor program will be the same as the ORCA bus program with no drop-in, 

and attendance being taken electronically etc.   

We hope to develop Outdoor StrongStart classrooms over time. This is a great time to develop and plan 

programs that can take place on school grounds, when outdoor programming is being encouraged. The 

Early Learning team hopes to continue to offer outdoor programming one to two days per week when 

the COVID pandemic is over. The Outdoor program will connect to district outdoor programming: the 

OLC and schools developing outdoor classrooms.  

https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Programs/earlylearning/Pages/default.aspx#/
https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Programs/earlylearning/Pages/covid19earlylearning.aspx#/


All Elementary schools would have 1 program a week to start, progressing to 2-3 as staffing allows.  

OTHER IDEAS:  

Parents have been encouraging the StrongStart staff to make take-away craft packages for families to 

use at home. We are hoping to include this in the service we provide if time allows.  

 

SD47 CHILDCARE PLAN  

Work continues on the “Powell River Region-wide Childcare Planning Project”. Devon Carter (MCFD-

Victoria) has made contact with Powell River to help ensure applications are successful. She is available 

to review applications. Applications would be made for renovating space at Kelly Creek and Texada 

Elementary Schools, and new builds at James Thomson, Henderson and Edgehill Elementary Schools. 

Each application is eligible for up to $3 million.  
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School District No. 47 (Powell River)

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements.

On behalf of School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education

Signature of the Superintendent

Signature of the Secretary Treasurer Date Signed

The accompanying financial statements of School District No. 47 (Powell River) have been prepared by 

management in accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and 

Accountability Act of British Columbia, supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the 

Province of British Columbia Treasury Board, and the integrity and objectivity of these statements are 

management's responsibility.  Management is also responsible for all of the notes to the financial statements and 

schedules, and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained 

in the financial statements.

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to provide 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and reliable financial 

information is produced.

The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's 

judgment particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty 

until future periods.

The Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River) (called the ''Board'') is responsible for ensuring 

that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control and exercises these 

responsibilities through the Board.  The Board reviews internal financial statements on a monthly basis and 

externally audited financial statements yearly.

DRAFT

The external auditors, MNP LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial statements.  The external auditors have 

full and free access to financial management of School District No. 47 (Powell River) and meet when required.  

The accompanying Independent Auditors' Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination 

and their opinion on the School District's financial statements.

Date Signed

Date SignedDRAFT
Page 1
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Statement 1

2020 2019

Actual Actual

$ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,420,916          4,183,463          

Accounts Receivable

Other (Note 3) 137,426             206,705             

Total Financial Assets 6,558,342          4,390,168          

Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Other (Note 4) 2,373,754          1,871,665          

Unearned Revenue (Note 9) 324,083             635,371             

Deferred Revenue (Note 6) 573,196             157,965             

Deferred Capital Revenue (Note 7) 37,504,271        37,887,922        

Employee Future Benefits (Note 8) 729,268             636,197             

Total Liabilities 41,504,572        41,189,120        

Net Debt (34,946,230)       (36,798,952)       

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible Capital Assets (Note 10) 46,765,129        47,445,149        

Prepaid Expenses 84,327               221,356             

Total Non-Financial Assets 46,849,456        47,666,505        

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) (Note 18) 11,903,226        10,867,553        

Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education

Signature of the Superintendent

Signature of the Secretary Treasurer

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Financial Position

As at June 30, 2020

Date Signed

Date Signed

Date Signed

Approved by the Board

Contingent Liabilities (Note 11)

DRAFT

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement 2

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 31,078,149        31,807,678        27,576,811        

Other 75,000               101,100             114,100             

Tuition 909,750             1,062,276          950,616             

Other Revenue 2,733,900          2,593,422          3,105,194          

Rentals and Leases 223,500             217,446             253,207             

Investment Income 54,000               52,239               74,506               

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,599,999          1,599,999          1,566,007          

Total Revenue 36,674,298        37,434,160        33,640,441        

Expenses

Instruction 29,322,369        28,813,537        26,868,124        

District Administration 1,394,732          1,227,502          1,064,306          

Operations and Maintenance 5,226,684          5,246,843          5,036,111          

Transportation and Housing 1,079,615          1,110,605          1,074,226          

Total Expense 37,023,400        36,398,487        34,042,767        

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (349,102)            1,035,673          (402,326)            

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, beginning of year 10,867,553        11,269,879        

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, end of year 11,903,226        10,867,553        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement 4

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (349,102)            1,035,673          (402,326)            

Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (1,248,673)         (1,191,231)         

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693          1,928,693          1,888,436          

Total Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693          680,020             697,205             

Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses (64,950)              

Use of Prepaid Expenses 137,029             

Total Effect of change in Other Non-Financial Assets -                         137,029             (64,950)              

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt, before Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) 1,579,591          1,852,722          229,929             

Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt 1,852,722          229,929             

Net Debt, beginning of year (36,798,952)       (37,028,881)       

Net Debt, end of year (34,946,230)       (36,798,952)       

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Changes in Net Debt

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement 5

2020 2019

Actual Actual

$ $

Operating Transactions

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,035,673         (402,326)          

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Decrease (Increase)

Accounts Receivable 69,279              (30,806)            

Prepaid Expenses 137,029            (64,950)            

Increase (Decrease)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 502,089            144,799            

Unearned Revenue (311,288)          (568,279)          

Deferred Revenue 415,231            (15,171)            

Employee Future Benefits 93,071              63,815              

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,928,693         1,888,436         

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (1,599,999)       (1,566,007)       

Total Operating Transactions 2,269,778         (550,489)          

Capital Transactions

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (1,248,673)       (1,191,231)       

Total Capital Transactions (1,248,673)       (1,191,231)       

Financing Transactions

Capital Revenue Received 1,216,348         974,881            

Total Financing Transactions 1,216,348         974,881            

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,237,453         (766,839)          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 4,183,463         4,950,302         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 6,420,916         4,183,463         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year, is made up of:

Cash 6,420,916         4,183,463         

6,420,916         4,183,463         

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Page 7 of 27 June 2020 

NOTE 1 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 
   

 
The School District, operates under authority of the School Act of British Columbia as a corporation 
under the name of "The Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River)", and operates 
as "School District No. 47 (Powell River)."  A board of education (“Board”) elected for a four-year 
term governs the School District.  The School District provides educational programs to students 
enrolled in schools in the district, and is principally funded by the Province of British Columbia 
through the Ministry of Education. School District No. 47 (Powell River) is exempt from federal 
and provincial corporate income taxes. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 
2020 and has had a significant financial, market and social dislocating impact worldwide.  Under 
direction of the Provincial Health Officer, all schools suspended in-class instruction in March 2020 
and the District remained open to continue to support students and families in a variety of ways.  
Parents were given the choice to send their children back to school on a gradual and part-time basis 
beginning June 1 with new health and safety guidelines.  The ongoing impact of the pandemic 
present’s uncertainty over future cash flows, may have a significant impact on future operations 
including decreases in revenue, impairment of receivables, reductions in investment income and 
delays in completing capital project work.  As the situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and 
magnitude of the impact are not known, an estimate of the future financial effect on the District is 
not practicable at this time. 
 
 
NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
a) Basis of Accounting  

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This Section requires 
that the financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards except in regard to the accounting for government transfers as set out in Notes 2(e) 
and 2(l).  
 
In November 2011, Treasury Board provided a directive through Restricted Contributions 
Regulation 198/2011 providing direction for the reporting of restricted contributions whether 
they are received or receivable by the School District before or after this regulation was in 
effect.  
 
As noted in notes 2(e) and 2(l), Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
and its related regulations require the School District to recognize government transfers for the 
acquisition of capital assets into revenue on the same basis as the related amortization expense.  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

a) Basis of Accounting (cont’d) 
 

As these transfers do not contain stipulations that create a liability, Canadian public sector 
accounting standards would require that: 
 

 government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 
recognized as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the 
eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 
PS3410; and 

 
 externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public sector 
accounting standard PS3100. 

 
The impact of this difference on the financial statements of the School District is as follows: 
 
Year-ended June 30, 2019 – decrease in annual surplus by $591,126 
June 30, 2019 – increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions by 
$37,887,922 
Year-ended June 30, 2020 – increase in annual surplus by $383,651 
June 30, 2020 – increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions by 
$37,504,271 

 
b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid securities that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  These 
cash equivalents generally have a maturity of three months or less at acquisition and are held for 
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing. 
 

c) Accounts Receivable 
 
 Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost and shown net of allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
d) Unearned Revenue 

 
Unearned revenue includes tuition fees received for courses to be delivered in future periods and 
receipt of proceeds for services or products to be delivered in a future period. Revenue will be 
recognized in that future period when the courses, services, or products are provided. 

 
e) Deferred Revenue and Deferred Capital Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue includes contributions received with stipulations that meet the description of 
restricted contributions in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board. When restrictions are met, deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in 
a manner consistent with the circumstances and evidence used to support the initial recognition 
of the contributions received as a liability as detailed in Note 2 (l). 

 
Funding received for the acquisition of depreciable tangible capital assets is recorded as deferred 
capital revenue and amortized over the life of the asset acquired as revenue in the statement of 
operations.  This accounting treatment is not consistent with the requirements of Canadian 
public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be recognized as 
revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met unless the 
transfer contains a stipulation that creates a liability in which case the transfer is recognized as 
revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See note 2 (a) for the impact of this 
policy on these financial statements. 
 

f) Prepaid Expenses 
 
Insurance premiums, and software licensing and support, are included as a prepaid expense and 
stated at acquisition cost and are charged to expense over the periods expected to benefit from it.  

 
g) Funds and Reserves 

 
Certain amounts, as approved by the Board are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. Transfers to and from funds and reserves are an adjustment to 
the respective fund when approved (see Notes 13 – Interfund Transfers and Note 18 – 
Accumulated Surplus).  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
h) Employee Future Benefits 
 

The School District provides certain post-employment benefits including vested and non-vested 
benefits for certain employees pursuant to certain contracts and union agreements. The School 
District accrues its obligations and related costs including both vested and non-vested benefits 
under employee future benefit plans. Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-
vested sick leave, early retirement, retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. 
The benefits cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on 
service and using management’s best estimate of expected salary escalation, termination rates, 
retirement rates and mortality. The discount rate used to measure obligations is based on the cost 
of borrowing. The cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the 
expected average remaining service lifetime of active employees covered under the plan.   
 
The most recent valuation of the obligation was performed at March 31, 2019 and projected  
to March 31, 2022. The next valuation will be performed at March 31, 2022 for use at  
June 30, 2022. For the purposes of determining the financial position of the plans and the 
employee future benefit costs, a measurement date of March 31 was adopted for all periods 
subsequent to July 1, 2004. 
 
The School district and its employees make contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and 
Municipal Pension Plan.  The plans are multi-employer plans where assets and obligations are 
not separated. The costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites  
 
Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard.  The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries. A liability for 
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and all the 
following criteria are met: 
 

 an environmental standard exists; 
 contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 
 the School District: 

o is directly responsible; or 
o accepts responsibility;  

 it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 
 a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites (cont’d) 
 
The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, 
maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site. 
 

j) Measurement Uncertainty 
 

Preparation of financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in note 
2 a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the 
potential impairment of assets, liabilities for contaminated sites, rates for amortization and 
estimated employee future benefits.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets 
 
The following criteria apply: 

 Tangible capital assets acquired or constructed are recorded at cost which includes 
amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, 
improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost also includes overhead directly 
attributable to construction as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the asset. 

 Donated tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date of 
donation, except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, 
which are then recognized at nominal value. Transfers of capital assets from related 
parties are recorded at carrying value.  

 Work-in-progress is recorded as an acquisition to the applicable asset class at substantial 
completion. 

 Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they 
no longer contribute to the ability of the School District to provide services or when the 
value of future economic benefits associated with the sites and buildings are less than 
their net book value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Statement of 
Operations. 

 Buildings that are demolished or destroyed are written-off. 
 Works of art, historic assets and other intangible assets are not recorded as assets in these 

financial statements. 
 The cost, less residual value, of tangible capital assets (excluding sites), is amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. It is management’s 
responsibility to determine the appropriate useful lives for tangible capital assets. These 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets (cont’d) 
 
useful lives are reviewed on a regular basis or if significant events initiate the need to 
revise. Estimated useful life is as follows: 
 

Buildings 40 years 
Furniture & Equipment 10 years 
Vehicles 10 years 
Computer Software 5 years 
Computer Hardware 5 years 

 
l) Revenue Recognition 

 

Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis in the period in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues, the amounts are considered to be collectible and can be 
reasonably estimated. 

 
Contributions received or where eligibility criteria have been met are recognized as revenue 
except where the contribution meets the criteria for deferral as described below. Eligibility 
criteria are the criteria that the School District has to meet in order to receive the contributions 
including authorization by the transferring government. 
 
For contributions subject to a legislative or contractual stipulation or restriction as to their use, 
revenue is recognized as follows: 
 

 Non-capital contributions for specific purposes are recorded as deferred revenue and 
recognized as revenue in the year related expenses are incurred, 

 Contributions restricted for site acquisitions are recorded as revenue when the sites are 
purchased, and 

 Contributions restricted for tangible capital assets acquisitions other than sites are 
recorded as deferred capital revenue and amortized over the useful life of the related 
assets.  

 
Donated tangible capital assets other than sites are recorded at fair market value and amortized 
over the useful life of the assets. Donated sites are recorded as revenue at fair market value when 
received or receivable. 

 
The accounting treatment for restricted contributions is not consistent with the requirements of 
Canadian public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be 
recognized as revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met.  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

l) Revenue Recognition (cont’d) 
 
unless the transfer contains a stipulation that meets the criteria for liability recognition in which 
case the transfer is recognized as revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See 
note 2(a) for the impact of this policy on these financial statements. 
 
Revenue related to fees or services received in advance of the fee being earned or the service is 
performed is deferred and recognized when the fee is earned or service performed. 
 
Investment income is reported in the period earned. When required by the funding party or 
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the deferred revenue 
balance. 
 

m) Expenditures 
 
Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received 
during the year is expensed. 

 
 Categories of Salaries 

 Principals, Vice-Principals, and Directors of Instruction employed under an 
administrative officer contract are categorized as Principals and Vice-Principals. 

 Superintendents, Assistant Superintendents, Secretary-Treasurers, Trustees and other 
employees excluded from union contracts are categorized as Other Professionals. 

 
Allocation of Costs  

 Operating expenses are reported by function, program, and object. Whenever possible, 
expenditures are determined by actual identification. Additional costs pertaining to 
specific instructional programs, such as special and aboriginal education, are allocated to 
these programs. All other costs are allocated to related programs. 

 Actual salaries of personnel assigned to two or more functions or programs are allocated 
based on the time spent in each function and program.  School-based clerical salaries are 
allocated to school administration and partially to other programs to which they may be 
assigned. Principals and Vice-Principals salaries are allocated to school administration 
and may be partially allocated to other programs to recognize their other responsibilities. 

 Employee benefits and allowances are allocated to the same programs, and in the same 
proportions, as the individual’s salary. 

 Supplies and services are allocated based on actual program identification. 
  



 

 
 
 
 

POWELL RIVER BOARD OF EDUCATION  
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 47  

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT NOTES 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 

 

 Page 14 of 27 June 2020 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
n) Financial Instruments  

 
A contract establishing a financial instrument creates, at its inception, rights and obligations to 
receive or deliver economic benefits. The financial assets and financial liabilities portray these 
rights and obligations in the financial statements. The School District recognizes a financial 
instrument when it becomes a party to a financial instrument contract.  
 
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and other liabilities. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities are recorded at cost or amortized cost and the associated 
transaction costs are added to the carrying value of these investments upon initial recognition 

and amortized using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs are incremental costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or a financial liability.  

 
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are 
recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative 
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized 
in the statement of operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are 
reported in the statement of operations. There are no measurement gains or losses during the 
periods presented; therefore, no statement of remeasurement gains or losses is included in these 
financial statements. 
 
All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets 
are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a 
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  
  
For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is 
used to determine interest revenue or expense.  
 

 
o) Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

 
A statement of re-measurement gains and losses has not been presented as the District does not 
hold any financial assets or liabilities that would give rise to remeasurement gains or losses. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

p) Going Concern disclosure 
 
The School District has implemented CPA Canada Handbook Section 1400, General Standards 
of Financial Statement Presentation. This standard includes requirements for management to 
assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management has made its 
assessment and concluded there is no issue regarding the School District’s ability to continue as 
a going concern based on the assumption that the current funding levels are maintained and any 
committed additional future funding is received. If there are significant declines in funding, 
expenses will be adjusted to match committed funding. 

 
q) Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

Effective July 1, 2022 the School District will be required to adopt PS3400 Revenue. Under the 
standard, transactions that include performance obligations are identified as “exchange contracts” 
while those that do not have performance obligations are identified as “non-exchange contracts”. 
Revenues from exchange contracts are to be recognized when the underlying performance 
obligations have been satisfied while revenues from non-exchange contracts are to be recognized 
when received or receivable. This standard may be applied retroactively or prospectively and 
early adoption is permitted. The impact of adopting this standard on the School District’s 
financial results cannot be determined at this time. 

 
Effective July 1, 2022 the school District will be required to adopt PS3280 Asset Retirement 
Obligations. This standard establishes when to recognize and how to measure an asset retirement 
obligation. This standard may be applied retroactively or prospectively and early adoption is 
permitted. The impact of adopting this standard on the School District’s financial results cannot 
be determined at this time. 

 
 
NOTE 3 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – OTHER  
 
 2020 2019 

   
Due from Federal Government $53,400 $52,660 

Due from Others 84,026 154,045 

   
 $137,426 $206,705 
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NOTE 4 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES – OTHER 
 
 2020 2019 
   
Trade payables  $959,763 $461,422 
Salaries and benefits payable 17,495 195,874 
Deductions Payable 1,396,496 1,214,369 
   
 $2,373,754 $1,871,665 

 
NOTE 5 EXPENSE BY OBJECT 
 2020  

 

 2019 
 

Salaries  $20,893,083 $19,216,327 
Benefits 4,729,790 4,249,168 
Services and supplies 8,846,921 8,688,836 
Amortization 1,928,693 1,888,436 
 $36,398,487 $34,042,767 

 
NOTE 6 DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue includes unspent grants and contributions received that meet the description of a 
restricted contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board, i.e., the stipulations associated with those grants and contributions have not yet been 
fulfilled. Detailed information about the changes in deferred revenue are as follows:  

 
 

2020  
 

2019 
    
Balance, beginning of year $   157,965   $173,136 

Increases: 
   Provincial Grant – Ministry of Ed 

                   
$4,394,728   

                   
$4,330,934    

       Federal Grants      -            - 
Other 1,653,509    1,909,870 
Investment income                          

 6,048,237    6,240,804 
Decreases:    

       Transfers to Revenue 5,633,006     6,255,975 
    

Net Changes for the year 415,231   (15,171) 
    
Balance, end of the year $573,196     $   157,965 
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NOTE 7  DEFERRED CAPITAL REVENUE 
   

 
Deferred capital revenue includes grants and contributions received that are restricted by the 
contributor for the acquisition of tangible capital assets that meet the description of a restricted 
contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury Board. Once 
spent, the contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the asset acquired. Detailed 
information about the changes in deferred capital revenue is as follows: 
  
         

 

           
Deferred Cap 

Revenue 

   Unspent 
Def. Cap 
Revenue 

Total        
2020  2019 

Balance, beginning of year $37,887,922 $   - $  37,887,922  38,479,048 
Increases:      

Transfers from DC - capital additions         1,216,348        1,216,348  974,881 
Transfers from DC – WIP          

      

Provincial Grants – MEd  1,216,348      1,216,348  941,348 
Provincial Grants – Other     33,533 
Other Revenue      

           

 
  

1,216,348 
   

1,216,348 2,432,696  1,949,762 
Decreases:      

Amortization         1,599,999  1,599,999  1,566,007 
Transfers to DCR - Capital Additions       1,216,348   1,216,348  974,881 
Transfers to DCR – WIP           
Transfers to capital expense      

      

 Net 
       

(383,651) 
 

-    (383,651)    (591,126) 
      

 
Balance, end of the year 

   
 

$37,504,271 

                                           
 

$    - $  37,504,271  $ 37,887,922 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 
 
Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-vested sick leave, early retirement, 
retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. Funding is provided when the benefits 
are paid and accordingly, there are no plan assets.  Although no plan assets are uniquely identified, 
the School District has provided for the payment of these benefits.  
 
 

 2020 2019 
Reconciliation of Accrued Benefit Obligation 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – April 1  $824,910 $660,110 
Service Cost 66,407 52,690 
Interest Cost 21,158 19,027 
Benefit Payments (37,502) (28,567) 
Increase (Decrease) in obligation due to Plan Amendment - - 
Actuarial (Gain) Loss (37,618) 121,650 
Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $837,805 $824,910 

 
Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Fiscal Year 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $837,805 $824,910 
Market Value of Plan Assets – March 31 - - 
Funded Status – Surplus (Deficit) (837,805) (824,910) 
Employer Contributions After Measurement Date - 6,777 
Benefits Expense After Measurement Date (22,423) (21,891) 
Unamortized Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss 130,960 203,827 
Accrued Benefit Asset (Liability) – June 30 $(729,268) $(636,197) 

 
Reconciliation of Change in Accrued Benefit Liability 

Accrued Benefit Liability – July 1  $636,197 $572,382 
Net expense for Fiscal Year 123,346 98,386 
Employer Contributions (30,274) (34,572) 
Accrued Benefit Liability – June 30 $729,268 $636,197 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 

 2020 2019 
Components of Net Benefit Expense 

Service Cost $67,305 $56,119 
Interest Cost 20,792 19,560 
Immediate Recognition of Plan Amendment - - 
Amortization of Net Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 35,249 22,707 
Net Benefit Expense (Income) $123,346 $98,386 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted for measuring the School District’s accrued benefit 
obligations are:  
 

Discount Rate – April 1 2.50% 2.75% 
Discount Rate – March 31 2.25% 2.50% 
Long Term Salary Growth – April 1 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
Long Term Salary Growth – March 31 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
EARSL – March 31 
 

9.7 9.7 

 
 
NOTE 9 UNEARNED REVENUE 

 2020 2019 
Balance, beginning of year $635,371 $1,203,650 
Changes for the year:   
 Increase:   
        Tuition fees  322,930 616,505 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 6,153 18,866 
        
 329,083 635,371 

 Decrease:   
        Tuition fees  630,765 1,203,650 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 9,606  
        

Net changes for the year (311,288) (568,279) 
Balance, end of year $324,083 $635,371 
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NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
  

 
Net Book Value: 

 
Net Book Value 

2020 
Net Book Value 

2019 

Sites $4,038,922 $4,038,922 
Buildings 41,250,642 41,572,489 
   
Furniture & Equipment 769,814 887,077 
Vehicles 576,722 722,460 
Computer Software 38,663 59,362 
Computer Hardware 90,366 164,839 
   
Total $46,765,129 $47,445,149 

 
June 30, 2020 

 Opening Cost Additions Disposals 
 
 

Total 
 2020 

Sites $4,038,922 $ $  $4,038,922 
Buildings 67,053,231 1,216,348   68,269,579 
      
Furniture & Equipment 1,457,091 28,446 151,252  1,334,285 
Vehicles 1,496,166 3,879 110,929  1,389,116 
Computer Software 103,495  21,844  81,651 
Computer Hardware 372,365  183,309  189,056 
      
Total $74,521,270 $1,248,673 $467,334  $75,302,609 

 

 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Additions Disposals 

Total  
 2020 

Sites $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 25,480,742 1,538,195  27,018,937 
Furniture & Equipment 570,014 145,709 151,252 564,471 
Vehicles 773,706 149,617 110,929 812,394 
Computer Software 44,133 20,699 21,844 42,988 
Computer Hardware 207,526 74,473 183,309 98,690 
     
Total $27,076,121 $1,928,693 $467,334 $28,537,480 



 

 
 
 
 

POWELL RIVER BOARD OF EDUCATION  
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 47  

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT NOTES 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 

 

 Page 21 of 27 June 2020 

NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
 
June 30, 2019 

 Opening Cost Additions Disposals 
 Total 

 2019 

Sites $4,038,922 $ $  $4,038,922 
Buildings 66,097,451 955,780   67,053,231 
Buildings – work in progress      
Furniture & Equipment 1,293,799 214,187 50,895  1,457,091 
Vehicles 1,499,375 21,264 24,473  1,496,166 
Computer Software 103,495    103,495 
Computer Hardware 372,365    372,365 
      
Total $73,405,407 $1,191,231 $75,368  $74,521,270 

 

 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Additions Disposals 

Total  
 2019 

Sites $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 23,966,796 1,513,946  25,480,742 
Furniture & Equipment 491,529 129,380 50,895 570,014 
Vehicles 648,241 149,938 24,473 773,706 
Computer Software 24,434 20,699  44,133 
Computer Hardware 133,053 74,473  207,526 
     
Total $25,263,053 $1,888,436 $75,368 $27,076,121 

 
 

NOTE 11 CONTINGENCIES 
 
Ongoing Legal Proceedings 
 
In the ordinary course of operations, the School District has legal proceedings brought against it and 
provision has been included in liabilities where appropriate. It is the opinion of management that 
final determination of these claims will not have a material effect on the financial position or 
operations of the School District. 
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NOTE 12  EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS  
 

The School District and its employees contribute to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and Municipal Pension 

Plan (jointly trusteed pension plans). The boards of trustees for these plans, representing plan members 
and employers, are responsible for administering the pension plans, including investing assets and 

administering benefits. The plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension plans. Basic pension 

benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2018, the Teachers’ Pension Plan has about 48,000 

active members and approximately 38,000 retired members. As of December 31, 2018, the Municipal 

Pension Plan has about 205,000 active members, including approximately 26,000 from school districts.  

 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plans and 

adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member 

contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age 

normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions 

sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plans. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded 
actuarial liability. 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Plan as at December 31, 2017, indicated a 

$1,656 million surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. As a result of the 2017 basic 

account actuarial valuation surplus, plan enhancements and contribution rate adjustments were made; 
the remaining $644 million surplus was transferred to the rate stabilization account. 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated 

a $2,866 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

 

The school district paid $2,113,129 for employer contributions to the plans for the year ended June 
30, 2020 (2019: $2,031,937) 

 
The next valuation for the Teachers’ Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2020, with results 
available in 2021. The next valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2021, 
with results available in 2022.  
 
Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, resulting in 
no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers 
participating in the plans. 
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NOTE 13 INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund transfers between the operating, special purpose and capital funds for the year ended June 
30, 2020, were as follows: 
 

 $250,000 from the Operating Fund to the Local Capital Fund 
 
 
 
NOTE 14 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The School District is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia 
ministries, agencies, school districts, health authorities, colleges, universities, and crown 
corporations.  Transactions with these entities, unless disclosed separately, are considered to be in 
the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount. 
 
 
 
NOTE 15 ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE  

The operations of the School District are dependent on continued funding from the Ministry of 
Education and various governmental agencies to carry out its programs.  These financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
 
 
NOTE 16 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 
 

The School District presently is unable to estimate future obligations related to the removal and 
disposal of asbestos which is believed to be prevalent throughout School District owned buildings 
built prior to the mid 1980s. At present such estimates can only be provided for buildings that are in 
the process of being decommissioned. Over the period to the required implementation in 2022 of a 
new PSAS standard PS3280 Asset Retirement Obligations the School District will be working 
towards establishing reliable estimates in respect of asbestos removal and disposal throughout all 
relevant School District buildings. 
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NOTE 17 BUDGET FIGURES 
 
Budget figures included in the financial statements were approved by the Board through the 
adoption of an amended annual budget on February 12, 2020.  The Board adopted a preliminary 
annual budget on June 11, 2019.  The amended budget is used for comparison purposes, as these are 
based on actual student enrollments.  The difference between the two budgets is as follows: 
 
 

      

   2020 2020  

      Amended Preliminary Difference 

Revenues     

 Provincial Grants    

  Ministry of Education 31,078,149 28,135,724 2,942,425 

  Other               75,000   
                      

60,000                15,000   

      

 Tuition 909,750             650,000             259,750 

 Other Revenue 2,733,900 2,770,508 (36,608) 

 Rentals and Leases 223,500              193,500  30,000 

 Investment Income              54,000  55,000 (1,000) 

 Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue          1,599,999  
        

1,556,007 
                     

43,992  

 Total Revenue       36,674,298        33,430,739  
               

3,243,559  

Expenses     

 Instruction       29,322,369  27,185,673 2,136,696 

 District Administration 1,394,732  1,141,576 253,156 

 Operations and Maintenance 5,226,684  4,798,880 427,804 

 Transportation and Housing 
        

1,079,615  1,009,938 69,677 

                                              

 Total Expenses       37,023,400  34,136,067 2,887,333  

Surplus (Deficit) for the year        (349,102) (705,328 356,226 

Effects of change in Tangible Capital Assets    

 Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets       -  -        -        

 Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets        1,928,693  1,888,436 40,257 

 Total Effect of change in Tangible     

 Capital Assets       1,928,693  1,888,436 40,257 

(Increase) Decrease in Net Financial Assets    

(Debt)       1,579,591 1,183,108       396,483 
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NOTE 18 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  

 

Internally Restricted (appropriated) by Board for: 
 

 2020 2019 

School & Program Based Resources : 
Technology Initiatives 
Curriculum Implementation 
Educational Change Committee 
Dual Credit Course Fees                                                             
Student Achievement Initiatives 
Wellness Project 
Eco & Sustainability Initiatives 
Social Worker 
School Resources Carried Forward 
Contingency Fund                                        

    
$      161,393 

- 
- 

195,000 
299,138 

- 
- 
- 

122,117 
275,000 

   
   $20,000 

68,500 
10,000 

- 
     195,000 

14,400 
7,500 

75,000 
36,118 

250,000 
       

Subtotal Internally Restricted Operating Surplus     1,052,648    676,518 
    

Unrestricted Operating Surplus  
 
 

Local Capital: 
 

Replacement Fund for Artificial Playfield  
Ongoing Investment into Outdoor Learning Centre 
Equipment Replacement Fund  
 
 
Investment In Capital Assets 
 

    970,515 
     2,023,163         

 
 
 

375,000 
169,205 
75,000 

619,205 
 

9,260,858 

   236,278 
      912,796 

 
 
 

250,000 
80,000 
67,530 

397,530 
 

9,557,227 

Total Available for Future Operations  $11,903,226 $10,867,553 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
All significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the School District are 
either recognized or disclosed in the financial statements together with other information relevant 
for making a reasonable assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk. 
 

 Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School District to concentrations of 
credit risk consist primarily of other receivables.  The maximum credit risk exposure 
is $137,426 (2019 - $206,705).   

 
The School District manages its credit risk by performing regular credit assessments 
of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts 
receivable. 

 
 Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the School District will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
   
The School District manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and 
forecasted cash flows from operations and anticipated investing activities to ensure, 
as far as possible to always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the School District’s reputation. 

 
 Foreign Currency Risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  In seeking to 
manage the risks from foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the School District does 
not hold significant funds in U.S. dollars in order to reduce their risk against adverse 
movements in the foreign exchange rates. 

 
 Financial Asset Impairment 

At each year-end date, the School District is required to evaluate and record any 
other-than-temporary impairment of its financial assets, other than those classified as 
held for trading.  Accordingly, the School District has compared the carrying value of 
each of these financial assets to its fair value as at June 30, 2019.  No provision for 
impairment was recorded in the current year, as the fair value of all financial assets 
tested exceeded their carrying value. 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these 
items. 
 

 Risk Management Policy 
The School District, as part of its operations, has established objectives (i.e. hedging 
of risk exposures and avoidance of undue concentrations of risk) to mitigate credit 
risk as risk management objectives.  In seeking to meet these objectives, the School 
District follows a risk management policy approved by its Board of Trustees. 

 
 



Schedule 1 (Unaudited)

2020 2019

Operating Special Purpose Capital Actual Actual

Fund Fund Fund

$ $ $ $ $

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 912,796               9,954,757            10,867,553          11,269,879          

Changes for the year

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,360,367            (324,694)              1,035,673            (402,326)              

Interfund Transfers

Local Capital (250,000)              250,000               -                           

Net Changes for the year 1,110,367            -                           (74,694)                1,035,673            (402,326)              

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), end of year - Statement 2 2,023,163            -                           9,880,063            11,903,226          10,867,553          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) by Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2020

DRAFT - Not Finalized

September 15, 2020  11:14 Page 28



Schedule 2 (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 26,689,782       27,483,822       23,191,100       

Other 75,000              101,100            114,100            

Tuition 909,750            1,062,276         950,616            

Other Revenue 1,230,538         1,284,272         1,234,930         

Rentals and Leases 223,500            217,446            253,207            

Investment Income 50,000              48,239              71,506              

Total Revenue 29,178,570       30,197,155       25,815,459       

Expenses

Instruction 23,741,124       23,491,015       20,916,579       

District Administration 1,302,178         1,134,948         977,806            

Operations and Maintenance 3,229,678         3,249,837         3,079,683         

Transportation and Housing 929,998            960,988            924,288            

Total Expense 29,202,978       28,836,788       25,898,356       

Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the year (24,408)            1,360,367         (82,897)            

Budgeted Appropriation (Retirement) of Surplus (Deficit) 24,408              

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital (250,000)          

Total Net Transfers -                        (250,000)          -                        

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), for the year -                        1,110,367         (82,897)            

Operating Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 912,796            995,693            

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,023,163         912,796            

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year

Internally Restricted 1,052,648         676,518            

Unrestricted 970,515            236,278            

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,023,163         912,796            

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020

DRAFT - Not Finalized

September 15, 2020  11:14 Page 29



Schedule 2A (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Operating Grant, Ministry of Education 27,133,939       27,562,477       23,689,201       

ISC/LEA Recovery (1,002,242)       (1,018,738)       (1,002,242)       

Other Ministry of Education Grants

Pay Equity 243,303            243,304            243,304            

Funding for Graduated Adults 11,936              8,807                

Transportation Supplement 91,754              91,754              91,754              

Economic Stability Dividend 23,564              

Carbon Tax Grant 30,000              30,978              30,978              

Employer Health Tax Grant 185,528            185,528            56,378              

Strategic Priorities - Mental Health Grant 35,000              

BCTEA - LEA Capacity Building Grant 6,850                

Support Staff Wage Increase Funding 99,565              

Teachers’ Labour Settlement Funding 259,938            

FSA & Monitored Marking 7,500                7,506                7,506                

District Capacity Building - Early Learning 9,574                

Total Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 26,689,782       27,483,822       23,191,100       

Provincial Grants - Other 75,000              101,100            114,100            

Tuition

Summer School Fees 15,784              13,736              

International and Out of Province Students 909,750            1,046,492         936,880            

Total Tuition 909,750            1,062,276         950,616            

Other Revenues

Other School District/Education Authorities 164,296            164,296            125,263            

Funding from First Nations 1,002,242         1,018,738         1,002,242         

Miscellaneous

Misc. Billings & Recoveries 50,000              69,570              36,759              

Purchase Card Rebate 14,000              14,287              13,968              

Edgehill PAC 10,000              

Pacific Blue Cross 40,298              

Art Starts Grant 6,400                6,400                

Cosmotology Revenues 10,981              

Total Other Revenue 1,230,538         1,284,272         1,234,930         

Rentals and Leases 223,500            217,446            253,207            

Investment Income 50,000              48,239              71,506              

Total Operating Revenue 29,178,570       30,197,155       25,815,459       

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 2B (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Salaries

Teachers 10,074,063       10,235,792       9,047,617         

Principals and Vice Principals 1,718,000         1,711,122         1,439,701         

Educational Assistants 2,150,234         2,079,263         2,100,569         

Support Staff 2,448,967         2,206,047         1,871,031         

Other Professionals 1,330,523         1,224,681         1,273,997         

Substitutes 1,014,029         851,842            872,900            

Total Salaries 18,735,816       18,308,747       16,605,815       

Employee Benefits 4,427,456         4,239,053         3,735,542         

Total Salaries and Benefits 23,163,272       22,547,800       20,341,357       

Services and Supplies

Services 2,042,499         2,008,414         1,984,399         

Student Transportation 13,200              6,391                17,731              

Professional Development and Travel 285,322            298,562            366,861            

Rentals and Leases 247,800            225,397            213,584            

Dues and Fees 348,500            371,245            354,963            

Insurance 70,000              74,139              69,765              

Supplies 2,504,885         2,748,164         1,986,956         

Utilities 527,500            556,676            562,740            

Total Services and Supplies 6,039,706         6,288,988         5,556,999         

Total Operating Expense 29,202,978       28,836,788       25,898,356       

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Schedule of Operating Expense by Object
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

Principals and Educational Support Other

Teachers Vice Principals Assistants Staff Professionals Substitutes Total

Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction 8,391,175          259,870             183,074             338,935             538,834             9,711,888          

1.03 Career Programs 98,932               46,927               145,859             

1.07 Library Services 160,708             1,067                 15,399               177,174             

1.08 Counselling 215,653             1,067                 23,303               240,023             

1.10 Special Education 962,521             122,661             2,079,263          12,708               273,911             104,572             3,555,636          

1.30 English Language Learning 13,421               13,421               

1.31 Indigenous Education 251,018             3,601                 6,451                 261,070             

1.41 School Administration 1,068,214          428,319             27,653               1,524,186          

1.60 Summer School 32,665               32,665               

1.61 Continuing Education 84,770               51,829               136,599             

1.62 International and Out of Province Students 57,594               33,498               11,791               102,883             

Total Function 1 10,235,792        1,536,905          2,079,263          662,803             664,675             721,966             15,901,404        

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration 174,217             213,566             387,783             

4.40 School District Governance 87,900               87,900               

4.41 Business Administration 112,208             144,707             256,915             

Total Function 4 -                         174,217             -                         112,208             446,173             -                         732,598             

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration 15,427               75,171               90,598               

5.50 Maintenance Operations 929,892             6,852                 72,855               1,009,599          

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds 75,993               75,993               

5.56 Utilities -                         

Total Function 5 -                         -                         -                         1,021,312          82,023               72,855               1,176,190          

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration 18,843               31,810               50,653               

7.70 Student Transportation 390,881             57,021               447,902             

Total Function 7 -                         -                         -                         409,724             31,810               57,021               498,555             

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total Functions 1 - 9 10,235,792        1,711,122          2,079,263          2,206,047          1,224,681          851,842             18,308,747        

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction

1.03 Career Programs

1.07 Library Services

1.08 Counselling

1.10 Special Education

1.30 English Language Learning

1.31 Indigenous Education

1.41 School Administration

1.60 Summer School

1.61 Continuing Education

1.62 International and Out of Province Students

Total Function 1

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration

4.40 School District Governance

4.41 Business Administration

Total Function 4

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration

5.50 Maintenance Operations

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds

5.56 Utilities

Total Function 5

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration

7.70 Student Transportation

Total Function 7

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9

Total Functions 1 - 9

Year Ended June 30, 2020
2020 2020 2019

Total Employee Total Salaries Services and Actual Budget Actual

Salaries Benefits and Benefits Supplies (Note 17)

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

9,711,888          2,283,090          11,994,978        2,592,125          14,587,103        14,362,878        12,020,048        

145,859             21,127               166,986             2,710                 169,696             176,734             126,278             

177,174             44,485               221,659             12,558               234,217             258,317             251,935             

240,023             60,273               300,296             1,015                 301,311             260,331             334,295             

3,555,636          862,101             4,417,737          213,951             4,631,688          4,861,724          4,821,368          

13,421               4,015                 17,436               17,436               45,000               85,853               

261,070             60,208               321,278             52,356               373,634             363,755             425,149             

1,524,186          328,964             1,853,150          97,740               1,950,890          2,059,880          1,539,288          

32,665               6,939                 39,604               147,320             186,924             160,000             59,197               

136,599             33,061               169,660             282,233             451,893             466,971             586,647             

102,883             20,874               123,757             462,466             586,223             725,534             666,521             

15,901,404        3,725,137          19,626,541        3,864,474          23,491,015        23,741,124        20,916,579        

387,783             83,243               471,026             44,178               515,204             593,523             314,970             

87,900               4,920                 92,820               27,247               120,067             125,000             165,893             

256,915             59,063               315,978             183,699             499,677             583,655             496,943             

732,598             147,226             879,824             255,124             1,134,948          1,302,178          977,806             

90,598               20,530               111,128             60,360               171,488             146,040             104,237             

1,009,599          218,755             1,228,354          1,135,146          2,363,500          2,382,882          2,231,346          

75,993               15,619               91,612               66,561               158,173             173,256             181,360             

-                         -                         556,676             556,676             527,500             562,740             

1,176,190          254,904             1,431,094          1,818,743          3,249,837          3,229,678          3,079,683          

50,653               11,158               61,811               1,940                 63,751               57,033               42,089               

447,902             100,628             548,530             348,707             897,237             872,965             882,199             

498,555             111,786             610,341             350,647             960,988             929,998             924,288             

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

18,308,747        4,239,053          22,547,800        6,288,988          28,836,788        29,202,978        25,898,356        
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Schedule 3 (Unaudited)

2020 2020 2019

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education 4,388,367         4,323,856         4,385,711         

Other Revenue 1,503,362         1,309,150         1,870,264         

Total Revenue 5,891,729         5,633,006         6,255,975         

Expenses

Instruction 5,581,245         5,322,522         5,951,545         

District Administration 92,554              92,554              86,500              

Operations and Maintenance 217,930            217,930            217,930            

Total Expense 5,891,729         5,633,006         6,255,975         

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                       -                        

Total Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                       -                        

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), end of year -                       -                        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Schedule of Special Purpose Operations
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Annual Learning Scholarships School Ready, Rural Education

Facility Improvement and Generated Strong Set, Enhancement

Grant Fund Bursaries Funds Start Learn OLEP CommunityLINK Fund

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year 13,103                143,500              

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              88,298                128,632              15,089                48,540              201,861                260,000              

Other 317                    1,548,218           

122,930              88,298                317                    1,548,218           128,632              15,089                48,540              201,861                260,000              

Less: Allocated to Revenue 122,930              88,298                -                         1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Deferred Revenue, end of year -                         -                         13,420                487,542              -                         -                         1,267                69,605                  -                         

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              88,298                128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Other Revenue 1,204,176           

122,930              88,298                -                         1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers 23,673              30,750                  38,500                

Principals and Vice Principals 100,000              

Educational Assistants 79,978                

Support Staff 3,812                  90,276                8,200                    

Other Professionals 24,289                  

Substitutes

3,812                  79,978                -                         -                         90,276                -                         23,673              63,239                  138,500              

Employee Benefits 8,320                  23,400                2,367                4,475                    26,500                

Services and Supplies 119,118              1,204,176           14,956                15,089                21,233              64,542                  95,000                

122,930              88,298                -                         1,204,176           128,632              15,089                47,273              132,256                260,000              

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                       -                           -                         

Interfund Transfers

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                       -                           -                         

Net Revenue (Expense) -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                       -                           -                         

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Other

Less: Allocated to Revenue

Deferred Revenue, end of year

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Other Revenue

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers

Principals and Vice Principals

Educational Assistants

Support Staff

Other Professionals

Substitutes

Employee Benefits

Services and Supplies

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers

Interfund Transfers

Net Revenue (Expense)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Classroom Classroom Classroom Mental Changing Auditory Culinary Arts

Enhancement Enhancement Enhancement Health Results for Outreach New Life Partnership 

Fund - Overhead Fund - Staffing Fund - Remedies in Schools Young Children Program Society Program TOTAL

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

1,362                  157,965              

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           4,394,728           

104,974              1,653,509           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                         104,974              6,048,237           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                         104,974              5,633,006           

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         1,362                  -                         573,196              

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           4,323,856           

104,974              1,309,150           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                         104,974              5,633,006           

6,969                  1,378,951           308,238              18,155                1,805,236           

100,000              

9,180                  89,158                

28,364                86,718                217,370              

234,144              258,433              

87,514                19,125                6,375                  1,125                  114,139              

122,847              1,378,951           336,543              6,375                  1,125                  339,017              -                         -                         2,584,336           

2,836                  330,948              23,556                68,335                490,737              

9,421                  24,125                675                    884,624              104,974              2,557,933           

135,104              1,709,899           360,099              30,500                1,800                  1,291,976           -                         104,974              5,633,006           

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

-                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4 (Unaudited)

2020 2019

Budget Invested in Tangible Local Fund Actual

(Note 17) Capital Assets Capital Balance

$ $ $ $ $

Revenues

Investment Income 4,000            4,000            4,000            3,000               

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,599,999     1,599,999                 1,599,999     1,566,007        

Total Revenue 1,603,999     1,599,999                 4,000            1,603,999     1,569,007        

Expenses

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets

Operations and Maintenance 1,779,076     1,779,076                 1,779,076     1,738,498        

Transportation and Housing 149,617        149,617                    149,617        149,938           

Total Expense 1,928,693     1,928,693                 -                   1,928,693     1,888,436        

Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (324,694)      (328,694)                   4,000            (324,694)      (319,429)          

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital 250,000        250,000        

Total Net Transfers -                   -                                250,000        250,000        -                       

Other Adjustments to Fund Balances

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased from Local Capital 32,325                      (32,325)        -                   

Total Other Adjustments to Fund Balances 32,325                      (32,325)        -                   

Total Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (324,694)      (296,369)                   221,675        (74,694)        (319,429)          

Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 9,557,227                 397,530        9,954,757     10,274,186      

Capital Surplus (Deficit), end of year 9,260,858                 619,205        9,880,063     9,954,757        

2020 Actual

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Capital Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4A (Unaudited)

Furniture and Computer Computer

Sites Buildings Equipment Vehicles Software Hardware Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost, beginning of year 4,038,922          67,053,231        1,457,091          1,496,166          103,495             372,365             74,521,270        

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Purchases from:

Deferred Capital Revenue - Bylaw 1,216,348          1,216,348          

Local Capital 28,446               3,879                 32,325               

-                         1,216,348          28,446               3,879                 -                         -                         1,248,673          

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 151,252             110,929             21,844               183,309             467,334             

-                         -                         151,252             110,929             21,844               183,309             467,334             

Cost, end of year 4,038,922          68,269,579        1,334,285          1,389,116          81,651               189,056             75,302,609        

Work in Progress, end of year -                         

Cost and Work in Progress, end of year 4,038,922          68,269,579        1,334,285          1,389,116          81,651               189,056             75,302,609        

Accumulated Amortization, beginning of year 25,480,742        570,014             773,706             44,133               207,526             27,076,121        

Changes for the Year

Increase:  Amortization for the Year 1,538,195          145,709             149,617             20,699               74,473               1,928,693          

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 151,252             110,929             21,844               183,309             467,334             

-                         151,252             110,929             21,844               183,309             467,334             

Accumulated Amortization, end of year 27,018,937        564,471             812,394             42,988               98,690               28,537,480        

Tangible Capital Assets - Net 4,038,922          41,250,642        769,814             576,722             38,663               90,366               46,765,129        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Tangible Capital Assets

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4C (Unaudited)

Bylaw Other Other Total

Capital Provincial Capital Capital

$ $ $ $

Deferred Capital Revenue, beginning of year 34,576,432       2,490,251         821,239            37,887,922       

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Capital Additions 1,216,348         1,216,348         

1,216,348         -                        -                        1,216,348         

Decrease:

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,485,574         88,506              25,919              1,599,999         

1,485,574         88,506              25,919              1,599,999         

Net Changes for the Year (269,226)          (88,506)            (25,919)            (383,651)          

Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,307,206       2,401,745         795,320            37,504,271       

Work in Progress, beginning of year -                       

Changes for the Year

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                       

Work in Progress, end of year -                        -                        -                        -                       

Total Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,307,206       2,401,745         795,320            37,504,271       

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Schedule 4D (Unaudited)

MEd Other

Bylaw Restricted Provincial Land Other

Capital Capital Capital Capital Capital Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year -                       

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 1,216,348         1,216,348         

1,216,348         -                        -                        -                        -                        1,216,348         

Decrease:

Transferred to DCR - Capital Additions 1,216,348         1,216,348         

1,216,348         -                        -                        -                        -                        1,216,348         

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                       

Balance, end of year -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Unspent Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Safe Return to School Grants

** Items in Red not yet committed ** Provincial Grant Federal Grant

Initiatives

Reusable 

Masks/Face 

Shields

Improved 

Hand 

Hygiene

Computers 

& Assistive 

Technology

Cleaning 

Supplies

Cleaning 

Frequency

Provincial 

Total

Learning 

Resources 

and 

Supports

Health & 

Safety Transportation

Before & 

After 

School Care

Federal 

Total

Total Cost 

of 

Initiatives Notes 

$8,718 $36,334 $24,177 $20,208 $91,133 $180,570 $967,304 $1,147,874

Services & Supplies

Purchase of masks and shields 8,718 $8,718 5,282 $5,282 $14,000

7000 reusable masks/disposable 

masks/shields

Purchase of a variety of transparent barriers 9,000 $9,000 $9,000 Portable & fixed plexi barriers

Purchase of additional cleaning supplies 20,208 $20,208 24,792 $24,792 $45,000

Estimated increase of 50% over 

historical average

Purchase of hand sanitizer stations for schools 4,000 $4,000 $0 $4,000

Additional dispensers throughout 

buildings

Purchase of hand sanitizer stations for buses 4,550 $4,550 $0 $4,550 Floor mounted units for each bus

Consideration for purchase of custodial equipment 20,000 $20,000 $20,000 Foggers & sprayers

Purchase and installation of replacement faucets at Brooks 14,400 $14,400 $0 $14,400

Replaced faucets with touchless 

units 

Consideration for installation of touchless units throughout balance of 

district 13,384 $13,384 $0 $13,384

Consideration for autoflush toilet valves at Brooks 30,000 $30,000 $30,000

Purchase of additional computers and technology 24,177 $24,177 22,823 $22,823 $47,000 Support for IEP students

Licensing for additional online mental health resources 5,292 $5,292 $5,292

Annual cost to continue Life 

Speak resource

Estimate of increased utilities associated with increased fresh air 

supply 37,800 $37,800 $37,800

Conservative estimate of 10% 

over prior year costs of hydro & 

Consideration for additional software licenses (numberacy & literacy) 0

Acquisition of Instruments better suited for modified delivery $0 16,000 $16,000 $16,000 Elementary Music

Staffing

Additional custodial time in schools (day cleaners) 91,133 $91,133 154,567 $154,567 $245,700

4 hrs per day per school plus 8 @ 

Brks

Additional custodial time in schools (increased replacement coverage 

for absent staff) $0 60,000 $60,000 $60,000 Double historical average cost

Staffing for additional bus runs 55,160 $55,160 $55,160

Two runs added to facilitate 

cohorts and capacity

Additional EA time to assist with elementary supervision $0 203,305 $203,305 $203,305

1 additional 5 hr postion at each 

elem school

Additional language supports for french immersion students in DL $0 50,220 $50,220 $50,220 0.5 FTE

 Kelly Creek (hold spots for students having enrolled in DL) $0 100,440 $100,440 $100,440 Added a division

Edgehill (hold spots for students having enrolled in DL) $0 100,440 $100,440 $100,440 Added a division

 Henderson (hold spots for students having enrolled in DL) $0 100,440 $100,440 $100,440 Didn’t reduce a division

James Thomson (hold spots for students having enrolled in DL) $0 100,440 $100,440 $100,440 Didn’t reduce a division

Brooks online learning re additional support 40,176 $40,176 $40,176 .4 for 1st quarter

Expected increase to regualr replacement of all staff 125,000 $125,000 $125,000

Estimate of approx 20% increase 

in absences for sick leave

Health & safety training for casual staff $0 10,000 $6,500 $6,500

Paid orientation for casual 

teachers & supprt staff

Consideration for addition of after school care at elementaries $0 0 $0 $0

Total Costs $8,718 $36,334 $24,177 $20,208 $91,133 $180,570 $864,576 $351,441 $55,160 $0 $1,267,677 $1,448,247



LEGEND:

Learning Resources and Supports

Implementation of online and remote learning options

Hiring additional teachers and staff

Training for staff

On-call teacher costs and other on-call staff

Mental Health Support for students and staff 

Health & Safety

Increasing staff and covering salary costs for additional hours 

needed to meet health and safety guidelines in schools

Inmprove air systems in schools, such as heating and ventilation, 

portable air scrubbers

Increasing hand hygiene, including additional stations

Installation of plexiglass and other barriers

Purchasing additional equipment such as sprayers and foggers

Additional personal PPE such as masks, shields

Transportation

Cover additional costs to have fewer students on buses and to 

accommodate new schedules

Supprt alternative transportation strategies, such as transportation 

assistance for parents

Before & After School Care
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Preface 
 
 
Setting the conditions that will provide a high - quality education for every student to 
succeed in school and life is the priority of every school trustee and every board. 
Trustees work effectively as a team to support the purpose of the board, as it is the 
board and not individual trustees that has the power to make a change and set 
direction. This mission, variously expressed by individual boards, connects to the 
following goals: 
 

• Increasing overall levels of student achievement 
• Meeting the needs and educational goals of all students 
• Promoting community confidence in public education 

 
The Board of Education Performance Review provides an introduction to a process 
embedded in a context of continuous improvement and it is intended to help improve 
governance, increase accountability, demonstrate leadership, and create a foundation 
for continuous improvement. 
 
This document is based on current practice and is aligned with the BCSTA Trustee 
Learning Guide, an online resource.  Elaboration of points made about leadership and 
governance in this document can be found in the Learning Guide. 
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Introduction 
 
Leading practices in governance indicate that effective boards establish formal 
processes for evaluating the performance of the board as a whole on an ongoing basis. 
This process is best conducted regularly and must have the full participation of all 
trustees to be truly effective. 
 
This guide to board performance review provides a framework designed specifically for 
British Columbia boards of education seeking to review and improve their governance 
processes and oversight practice. The performance review is done within the context of 
the individual board’s vision, mission and values; and is meant to be a positive, 
informative and constructive process, focused on effective practices, policies and 
procedures that support student learning. 
 
The Board Performance Review process as designed by the BCSTA addresses three 
main areas: 
 

• A review of procedural aspects (relating mostly to role of the board and trustees 
and their involvement in district policy and organizational procedures); 

• A review of the way the board and senior staff work together as a team, and with 
members of the community; and, 

• A review of results-based performance (the board’s involvement and 
understanding of desired outcomes relating to student learning). 

 
Keeping the review session clearly focused contributes to the effectiveness of a board 
performance review. Ideas for keeping the session on track include emphasizing the 
purpose of the performance review, summarizing at the end of each review activity, and 
using formal review tools and processes as a stimulus for discussion. The review 
session generally concludes with an action plan that outlines strategies, so the board 
can build on its strengths and address any weaknesses. When trustees as a group 
leave the performance review session with a common concrete plan for change, 
improvement and growth, they are likely to move forward with renewed energy and 
enthusiasm. 
 
Follow-up is an important part of every performance review process. Follow-up may 
include a review report that summarizes the results of the review and informing 
stakeholders about the results of the review. A plan, task assignments and timelines for 
follow-up may be included in the review report to reflect the school board’s commitment 
to accountability for its own improvement. 
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Why Board Performance Review 
 
The basic purpose of a regular board performance review is to improve student 
achievement through more effective board governance. Organizations and individuals 
need feedback in order to learn, change and grow. A performance review is one way to 
get feedback for your board. 
 
A board performance review tells you what you’re doing well, so you can celebrate your 
strengths and build on them. It also gives you information about areas for improvement, 
so you can focus your energy on changes that will have the greatest impact. 
Regular performance review is an established “best practice” for well-governed boards. 
 
 

 
A board performance review: 

• Is one way the board can hold itself accountable to the general public 

• Sets a positive example for the rest of the school system 

• Creates a foundation for improvement and links directly to the Learning Guide 

• Provides a scheduled opportunity to discuss difficult operational issues – it is 
easier for school trustees to temporarily “park” issues when a specific time for 
dealing with them has been established. 

• Provides opportunity for identifying strengths and areas for improvement. 

• Is a requirement for those boards that have a policy specifying yearly 
performance reviews. 

 
 
Why not let others review the work of boards of education? 
 
It is appropriate that boards review themselves because trustees are elected officials. 
As governors of the school district, they are ultimately responsible for everything that 
happens within the school district, including the quality of their own work and their own 
review.  While the input of senior staff and partner groups can certainly form part of the 
process (and is recommended), it is the self-review and analysis that is most important. 
 
BCSTA staff or other professionals can facilitate the board’s performance review 
session or provide information that informs the board’s decisions, but making decisions 
about the board’s strengths, weaknesses and overall is the responsibility of the board. 

 

Behavioral psychologists and organizational learning experts agree that 
people and organizations cannot learn without feedback.  No matter how good 

a board is, it’s bound to get better if it’s reviewed intelligently.  
 

Jeffrey Sonnenfeld. 
What Makes Great Boards Great, Harvard Business Review, September 2002 
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The Work of the Board 
 
Boards of Education as Corporate Bodies 
 
Boards of Education are corporate bodies that derive their 
power and responsibility from The School Act. This means that 
power resides with the board as a whole, not with the chair or 
with individual school trustees. Decisions must be made by the 
board as a whole. Individual trustees do not have the authority 
to make decisions, unless these decisions are specifically 
delegated to them by the corporate board, the board as a whole. 
 
Boards utilize their Mission, Vision and Values to signal to their 
communities and stakeholders the goals, aspirations and means 
by which they will ensure student success. The Statement for 
Educational Policy Order 1280/89 (Statement of the Mandate for 
the School System): 
 

“...boards have a responsibility to ensure that 
schools provide students with opportunities for  
a quality education; to set education policies that 
reflect the aspirations of the community and that 
are consistent with overall provincial guidelines;...” 

 
Planning for, and delivery of a quality education is the primary 
focus for boards. This includes a conversation around ensuring 
that a high-quality education is accessible to all students and 
articulating the Board’s role in ensuring that parents, community 
partners and the business community are meaningfully 
engaged. Both the research of Kenneth Leathwood (2013) and 
the Iowa Lighthouse Inquiry (2001, 2007) into the relationship 
between Boards of Education and student achievement are 
conclusive - there are specific actions and behaviours of boards 
that can have a significantly positive impact on student 
achievement. Boards of Education matter! 
 
  

 
Part 6 – Boards of Education 
 
Division 1 – Corporate Status and 
Meetings 
 
Board is a corporation 
 
65(1) The trustees elected or 
appointed under this Act for each 
school district and their successors 
in office constitute a board of 
school trustees for the district and 
are a corporation under the name 
of “The Board of School Trustees 
of School District No. 5 South East 
Kootenay” (or as the case may 
be). 
 
(1.1) A board is responsible for the 
improvement of student 
achievement in the school district. 
 
(2) A board may 
(a) establish committees and 
specify the functions and duties of 
those committees, 
(b) establish a district advisory 
council comprised of persons 
representing parents’ advisory 
councils and other organizations in 
the community, and 
(c) delegate specific and general 
administrative and management 
duties to one or more of its 
employees. 
 
(3) Committees of trustees or 
individual trustees may not 
exercise the rights, duties and 
powers of the board. 
 
(4) Unless expressly required to be 
exercised by bylaw, all powers of a 
board may be exercised by bylaw 
or by resolution. 
 
(5) A board may exercise a power 
with respect to the acquisition or 
disposal of property owned or 
administered by the board only by 
bylaw. 
 
School Act [RSBC 1996] 
Chapter 412 
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The Work of Boards 
 
The work of boards of education is complex and multi-faceted as suggested by the 
following graphic  
(Manitoba School Boards Association, School Board Member Handbook, 2016, p.8) 
 
 
 

 
Leadership – The board is responsible for the success of the organization regarding its 
refined purpose. It does this by articulating a vision, establishing goals, and setting 
policy to guide decision making through a governance process that includes defining 
roles, relationships, structures and processes.  Good governance embraces a 
commitment to ethical leadership, to continuous learning, and to long-term 
development. 
 
Effective governance relies on a clear understanding of roles and responsibilities. An 
organization’s or an individual's role describes their defining characteristics and 

Page 8                    School Board Member Handbook
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expected contributions. Responsibilities describe the specific requirements they 
undertake in the discharge of their role. 
 
Stewardship – Boards oversee the operation of the school 
system on behalf of the citizens they represent. The most 
important dimension of stewardship is keeping the focus of all 
board decisions and all school district activity on student 
achievement and on the best educational interests of all 
students. 
 
Boards of Education have authority over the school system and 
its resources, including its financial resources. Boards have a 
fiduciary responsibility to the people they represent. This 
responsibility includes allocating resources wisely to promote 
student learning. 
 
Relationship – The Board’s role requires a sincere commitment 
to collaboration, cooperation and engagement – first among 
trustees, in order to establish the board as a body focused on its 
role in the school district, and then in a larger context, to actively 
engage with the community, including other groups and 
organizations with a shared purpose. As such, it involves 
ensuring the board is open to the wider community and not just 
certain aspects of it. It encourages the recognition and 
appreciation of the interconnectivity and interdependence 
among all groups and organizations. 
 
A communications plan is an important part of monitoring 
relationships and of advocating for education. A good 
communications plan sets out strategies for both listening and 
telling and emphasizes that community engagement is a critical 
element of the key work of improving student achievement. A 
good communications plan is also implemented, along with 
regular reviews of its effectiveness.  

 
  

 
 

As governors of the 
school district, Boards 

are ultimately 
responsible  

for everything that 
happens within the 

school district, 
including the quality of 

their own work and their 
own review. 

 
 
Governance through Policy 
 
Effective boards of education 
use policy as a governance 
tool.  In theory, the board is 
responsible for setting policy 
and the superintendent and 
other staff are responsible for 
implementing it. In practice, 
these two areas are 
interrelated and overlapping. 
The superintendent makes 
recommendations to the board 
about policy and the board may 
be involved in management to 
some extent. The board’s 
degree of involvement in 
management depends on the 
situation. For example, when a 
superintendent is new, the 
board may play a significant 
role and then step back as the 
superintendent gains 
experience. In exceptional 
circumstances, the board may 
assume total responsibility for 
management – if the 
superintendent resigns 
suddenly, dies or becomes ill, 
for example. 
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Effective Boards (Center for Public Education, 2011) 
 
Research conducted by the Centre for Public Education on the effectiveness of boards 
has been used.  According to that research: 
 
1. Effective boards commit to a vision of high expectations for student achievement and 
quality instruction and define clear goals toward that vision 
 
2. Effective boards have strong shared beliefs and values about what is possible for 
students and their ability to learn, and of the system and its ability to teach all children at 
high levels. 
 
3. Effective boards are accountability driven, spending less time on operational issues 
and more time focused on policies to improve student achievement. 
 
4. Effective boards have a collaborative relationship with staff and the community and 
establish a strong communications structure to inform and engage both internal and 
external stakeholders in setting and achieving district goals. 
 
5. Effective boards are data savvy; they embrace and monitor data, even when the 
information is negative, and use it to drive continuous improvement. 
 
6. Effective boards align and sustain resources, such as professional development, to 
meet district goals. 
 
7. Effective boards lead as a united team with the superintendent, each from their 
respective roles, with strong collaboration and mutual trust. 
 
8. Effective boards take part in team development and training, sometimes with their 
superintendents, to build shared knowledge, values and commitments for their 
improvement efforts. 
 
 
Questions Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

• How does our board define its work? Do we have a written description of our roles 
and responsibilities?   

• Are we focused on student achievement through community engagement? 

• What do individual trustees consider to be their roles on board? How can we 
reconcile differing perspectives on roles of the board? 

• Do we have written indicators of board effectiveness? How do individual trustees 
define board effectiveness?  
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Your board performance review, like all of your work, will 
be grounded in your board’s vision, mission and values. 
Your vision, mission and values provide the foundation 
for all board decisions and actions. 
 
During performance review, it can be helpful to ask, “Is 
this way of working (action, policy, procedure, process) 
consistent with our vision and mission? Does it reflect 
our values?”  
 
Reviewing the vision, mission and values of your board 
when you start the performance review process will help 
ensure that actions, decisions and judgements reflect 
what is really important. 
 
Questions School Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

• Does our board have a written statement of vision, 
mission and values? How was it developed? 

• How often do we, as a board, review our vision, 
mission and values?  What techniques do we use to 
share our vision mission and values with our 
community? 

• Can we describe a few recent situations where our 
board’s decisions or policies reflected our vision, 
mission and values (or perhaps didn’t)? 

 
 

Vision, Mission and Values 
 
Vision – Your vision is a 
description of the ideal situation 
in your school district. It 
answers the question, “What is 
our dream?” 
 
Mission – Your mission 
statement defines the purpose 
of your school district. It 
answers the question, “Why do 
we exist?” 
 
Values – Values are the moral 
and ethical priorities that guide 
school board activities.  Values 
statements answer the 
question, “What do we believe 
in?” 



10 | P a g e  
Board Performance Review          October 2018 

 

 

The Context of Board Reviews 
 
A board performance review should be a positive process that is 
informative and constructive. At the conclusion of a constructive 
performance review, school trustees feel pride and satisfaction 
in the things they are doing well and have a plan of action to 
improve in areas where they are less effective. 
 
Every organization and every individual have strengths and 
assets. During a board performance review process, it is 
important to identify strengths, as well as problems and areas for 
improvement. Considering both strengths and weaknesses gives 
you a comprehensive and well-rounded picture of your Board. 
Acknowledging your strengths helps you stay positive about your 
board and your performance. It gives you new energy, 
something to celebrate and greater will to move forward. It also 
creates a solid foundation for future growth. 
 
Board performance review is not an appropriate response 
for a board in crisis. If your board is beset by personality 
conflicts, polarized positions, disorganized meetings, or 
other ills, consider alternate strategies to address the 
problems. 
 
 
 
Leading by Example 
 
Boards lead by creating policy and establishing related 
accountability measures, but effective boards lead by example, 
too. Boards that conduct regular performance reviews and report 
the results to the public are providing positive role models for 
everyone in the school district.  When boards engage in regular 
performance review, they are leading the way for others in the 
district. 
 
Self-assessments by individual school trustees can also be a 
component of a board performance review. When trustees 
reflect on their own knowledge and their participation in school 
board work, they are leading the way for performance reflection 
by students and teachers. 
 
 
  

 
 

If your Board is in Crisis … 
 
Board performance review isn’t 
an effective way of addressing 
a school board crisis. Consider 
instead: 
 

• a mediator or conflict 
resolution specialist 

• a consultant who 
specializes in effective 
meetings 

• training sessions for 
school trustees on 
topics like 
communication skills, 
effective meetings or 
the role of the school 
board. 

 

 
 

Board of Education 
Review 

 
“… is likely to be most 

effective when the 
Board has an 
enthusiastic 

commitment to be held 
accountable.  

The most effective 
processes re 

informative and 
constructive  

rather than punitive. 
 

Patrick O’Callaghan, Patrick 
O’Callaghan and Associates.  Crown 
Corporation Governance Conference, 
Ottawa, January 2004. 
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Questions School Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
The Cycle of Board Learning 
 
 
 
 
 
Performance Review Participants 
 
The Reluctant Trustee 
The performance review process is most effective when all trustees participate.  
Occasionally, though, a trustee may be hesitant about participating or may express 
concerns. When this occurs, ask the trustee about her or his concerns and try to 
address them. Concerns often fall into two categories: 
 

• A fear that s/he will be criticized personally, judged, or attacked during the 
session: Address this concern by ensuring everyone knows that the performance 
review focuses on the work of the board as a whole, not on individual members. 
Emphasize this framework at the beginning of the review session, indicate that 
no personal criticisms will be allowed, and rein in any members who direct 
personal criticism at others. 
 

• A belief that the performance review process is a waste of time or general 
discomfort with the whole process: Address this concern by emphasizing that an 
action plan for board improvement will grow out of the review. Trustees are less 
likely to consider the review a waste of time if the performance review process is 
established as a regular event that is part of a cycle of ongoing school board 
learning activities. 
 

 
Research indicates that “effective school boards take part in group development and 
training, sometimes with their superintendents as well as other senior staff, to build 
shared knowledge, values and commitments for their improvement efforts”.   Several 
studies have confirmed that in identified high-achieving districts, school trustees said 
they regularly participated in activities in which they learned together as a group. They 
cited frequent work and study sessions with opportunities for inquiry and discussion 
prior to making a final decision. In low-achieving districts, however, board members said 
they did not learn together except when the superintendent or other staff members 
made presentations of data. 
 
Performance review is one activity that school boards undertake in order to learn and 
grow. Others include: 
 

 

• Are there other situations where our board is leading by example or serving as a 
role model for the rest of the school district? for the public? 

• Is our board a positive or negative example in these situations?  Why? 
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Orientation for new school trustees – A well-established best practice is for districts 
to engage in a robust trustee orientation program following their election to office. This 
program can then be supported with a board member competency assessment, and a 
needs appraisal to determine next steps for the board's professional development. 
 
A trustee orientation program should cover a variety of topics relevant to the district 
context. As part of the orientation process, some districts have also arranged for 
trustees to go on site visits to district facilities and schools. This may be impractical in 
some districts and is handled in different ways depending on the context. 
 
Trustees also benefit from a quality orientation session through the New Trustee 
Academy of the BCSTA. Also, some school districts have arranged for a governance 
specialist to provide individualized orientation to their boards. This can help trustees 
further understand their governance role and the difference between ‘governing’ and 
‘managing’.  It can also help trustees distinguish between their role and the role of the 
superintendent and senior management team. 
 
 
Continuing Education – A continuing education plan provides trustees with support to 
carry out their work. Boards, with the assistance of their staff, develop, fund, implement 
and update, on an annual basis, an education plan that is specific to the needs of its 
trustees. The plan considers the training requirements of both newly elected and 
returning trustees, and it includes an annual assessment to determine the areas of 
greatest need. Boards can draw from a variety of sources to help them with their 
professional development starting obviously with those available through the BCSTA. 
 
Along with the opportunities provided through the BCSTA, boards can also work with 
their superintendent and secretary-treasurer to design programs to meet the needs of 
both individual trustees and the board. Annual school board performance review is one 
element of a continuous cycle of school board learning and improvement. After a couple 
of performance reviews, the process will become established and accepted as a routine 
part of school board operations. 
 
 
Questions School Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Role of the Superintendent (and potentially other senior staff) 

 

• What events and activities do our board participate in to build an organizational 
culture of learning, growth and effective assessment? 

• What events and activities would we like to add to or subtract from this list? Why? 

• What role does performance review presently play in our board’s cycle of learning 
and performance-development activities? 
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The superintendent’s role during a school board performance review process falls into 
three areas:  participation in the review, administration and planning the review. 
 
Participation in the Review – Review of the board/superintendent relationship is a key 
component of a comprehensive board performance review. The superintendent is 
responsible for implementing policies set by the board and much of the board’s 
effectiveness depends on the quality of its relationship with the superintendent. The 
board has an obligation to give the superintendent feedback about the relationship and 
to suggest actions the superintendent can take to improve the relationship. The 
superintendent, in turn, can give useful feedback to the board. For example, the 
superintendent can tell you about the effectiveness of the way you give direction and 
about changes that might be appropriate. 
 
Administration – The superintendent and other staff can provide the administrative 
support needed for the performance review. For example, they can identify potential 
facilitators; make arrangements for the site, meals and travel; type and copy 
documents; develop PowerPoint presentations; and assist in data collection. 
 
Planning – Generally the superintendent should not take the lead in planning the 
performance review and in selecting review tools and processes. This is the 
responsibility of the board in collaboration with the facilitator (if you are using a 
professional facilitator). However, because the board and superintendent work closely 
together, it may be appropriate to ask for the superintendent’s input about the process 
as a whole and about specific review tools. 
 
 
Role of the Public and the Media 
 
Some boards choose to involve the community and/or key stakeholders by developing 
surveys for them to complete.  These perspectives can assist in a thorough review of 
the board’s performance. 
What about the media community members and members of the public? Should they be 
invited to observe the school board as it conducts the performance review? The answer 
to this question is usually “No.” 
 
School board members will find it easier to be honest and spontaneous if members of 
the public and the media are not observing them as they conduct the performance 
review. School staff, parents, the public and the media have a legitimate interest in the 
results of the review and the action plan that grows out of it. This interest is best served 
by providing them with written information in the form of summaries or news releases 
after the process has been completed. 
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Planning for Board Performance Review 
 
Planning in advance is essential for a successful performance review.  The tasks 
involved in planning for a performance review include: 
 
Decide who will lead the review process – Usually either an outside facilitator or the 
school board chair leads the process.  Select the facilitator (if one is being used) and 
begin planning. The performance review session is usually led an outside facilitator 
such as a BCSTA consultant. It is not appropriate to ask the superintendent to lead the 
process. Many boards report better results when they ask a professional facilitator to 
lead them through the performance review process. Some boards choose to use a 
professional facilitator from outside the BCSTA. In this case, the board is responsible for 
costs associated with the facilitator. Under some circumstances, the BCSTA can share 
these expenses. 
 
Make logistical arrangements – These arrangements include setting a date when all 
trustees can be available, selecting a site, arranging for meals and transportation, etc. 
Logistical arrangements for your board performance review will vary depending on the 
site selected for the review, and on whether the review process is scheduled for a few 
hours, a day or a weekend. It will also depend on the preferences and priorities of 
school trustees.  Some boards conduct their performance review around their regular 
boardroom; others go to a retreat site such as a hotel or conference.  Each approach 
has advantages and disadvantages. 
 
 

Board Performance Review Process 
 
 
The process begins with a meeting – usually by conference call -- with the board, and 
usually senior district staff, to explain the content and clarify the process. Next trustees 
(and district staff) complete a 110 question on-line confidential survey as well as an 
open-ended response section where additional respondent comments may be added. 
 
The collected responses are correlated under 9 subsections which relate directly to the 
Learning Guide: 
 

1. Governance 
2. Vision, Culture and Planning 
3. The Board’s Responsibility for Student Success 
4. Aboriginal Education 
5. Financial and Facility Planning and Accountability 
6. Human Resources and Labour Relations 
7. Communications and Community Relations  
8. Board Development and Leadership 
9. Legal Accountability  
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BCSTA collates all of the responses, charts them under one of 
the nine subsections, and shares the information with the board 
of education.  A BCSTA facilitator (or an external facilitator of the 
board’s choice) then works with the board to review the results 
and to support the board of education in examining the 
questions or concerns that are raised.  The review is done to 
ensure trustees (and senior staff) are able to understand their 
reported strengths as a group as well as to identify areas of 
challenge or concern that need to be addressed. 
 
Most boards of education find it helpful to discuss areas of 
strength and challenge with the support of a facilitator, although 
it is not required.   The review process usually includes making 
plans as to the further follow-up steps needed to support 
effective board performance.  The initial facilitated process 
usually takes 4 – 6 hours of discussion with the board (and 
senior district staff).  Depending on the results of your board 
review, you may require less time or a little more.  In some 
cases, boards also plan follow-up processes incorporated into 
other activities such as strategic planning or policy review. 
 
Some boards also put in place a more comprehensive trustee 
education plan or schedule for further discussions, but this is 
entirely dependent upon the identified needs of your board and 
your desire to pursue such activities.  BCSTA can also work with 
you to help facilitate any such follow-up work. 
 

 
  

 
 

The only person you have 
any control over or 

responsibility for in your 
system is you. You may 

influence others and 
provide them with an 

environment to motivate 
themselves. But you 
cannot control your 

colleagues. You can only 
control your performance. 

Because your 
performance as a board 

member is your 
responsibility, consider 
taking time before you 

participate in a review of 
your board to review your 

own experience, 
knowledge and skills. 

 
Michael Wessely, NSBA 

 
Promoting Participation 
 
During a performance review, 
as during many other types of 
meetings, some people talk too 
much, and some don’t talk at 
all. Experienced facilitators 
know how to organize meetings 
so that everyone participates. A 
few ideas include: 
 

• Go around the table – 
everyone has three 
minutes to make their 
comments 

• Work in groups of two 
or three – there is more 
opportunity to speak in 
a small group than in a 
large one 

• Ask a different person 
to report every time 
small groups report 
back to the large 
group. 



16 | P a g e  
Board Performance Review          October 2018 

 

Individual Trustee Self-Assessment 
 
In most cases, it is best to consider the actions and work of the 
board as a whole. It is not recommended to ask trustees to 
review or critique each other. Nor is it recommended that the 
board review process be used to inform staff evaluations.  Such 
approaches can fuel pre-existing tensions or create new ones.  
Using a board performance review to try to control an unruly or 
disruptive trustee can backfire, because trustees who feel 
criticized or attacked by their peers can become aggressive or 
defensive. 
 
However, self-assessment by individual trustees focused on 
developing a learning profile can play a legitimate and useful 
role in a board performance review.  Using the BCSTA “Trustee 
Learning Profile”, trustees can reflect on their own knowledge. 
Individual trustees can use this information to plan for their own 
professional learning.  If trustees choose, they can use the 
profiles to plan ongoing professional learning opportunities that 
would benefit the entire board. 
 
 
Questions Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Questions School Boards Might Ask: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Has our board developed action plans before for other aspects of our work? If 
so, what format have we used?  Will the same format work for the action plan 
that grows out of the board performance review? 

 

• Are there things about my personal knowledge as a school trustee that would 
improve my ability to fulfill my roles and responsibilities? 

• What results of a self-assessment would I feel comfortable sharing with other 
school trustees? 

• What is the best method to share my reflections about my personal 
performance with other school trustees? 

 
 

Revisiting Your  
Action Plan 
 
Your action plan provides a 
guide for change and 
improvement, but it may need 
to be revisited and revised as 
you implement it. Things often 
take longer than you expect so 
it may be necessary to revise 
timelines. If a trustee or key 
staff member resigns, retires or 
becomes ill, it may be 
appropriate to involve new 
people. Some change in the 
action plan is to be expected. 
The key to success is to keep 
your eyes on the big goals you 
want to achieve and to adjust 
other elements of the action 
plan accordingly. 
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Concluding the Performance Review 
 
A good board performance review doesn’t end on the day that the review session is 
completed. Two types of follow-up activities are important: 

• The Review Report 

• Sharing Information 
 
The Report 
 
It is important to prepare a written summary of the 
review. A good review report will include: 

• Information about the purpose of the performance 
review and the topics addressed, 

• A list of the participants and the name of the 
facilitator, 

• Descriptions of tools and processes completed 
during the review, 

• Summaries of the results of the tools and 
processes, 

• Summaries of the main points made during 
discussion after the completion of each tool or 
process, 

• A summary of the board’s strengths and 
weaknesses, 

• The action plan completed during the review, 

• Information about next steps. 
 
Usually the board staff prepares the review report and 
sends it to the board chair (or sometimes the 
superintendent) who reviews it for accuracy and 
completeness. After any necessary revisions are made, 
the review report is distributed to all trustees. It is best if 
the review report can be completed within two or three 
weeks of the performance review session, so trustees 
receive it when the performance review is still fresh in 
their minds. 
 
  

 
 

News Release 
 
In a news release: 

• be clear and concise 

• answer the five W’s of 
journalism (who, what, 
where, when and why), 
 

Elements of a news release 
include: 

• Date – Provide day, 
month and year. 

• Title – Present the key 
idea in a few words. 

• Head – Summarize the 
story in one to three 
sentences. 

• Body – Provide more 
detailed information 
and include quotes 
from key people. 

• Contact Person – Give 
the name, phone 
number and e-mail 
address of someone to 
contact for more 
information. 

 
Distribute the news release to: 

• local or national 
newspapers 

• local or national radio 
and TV stations 

• stakeholder groups 
 
Be sure to post the news 
release on your school district 
website. 
 

 



18 | P a g e  
Board Performance Review          October 2018 

 

Sharing Information 
 
Sharing the results of your board performance review and the ideas in your action plan 
with school district staff, parents, and the public can be important for several reasons: 

• Boards lead by example as well as through policy. By sharing information about 
the performance review, you are creating an organizational culture of learning, 
growth and assessment. You are also modelling openness and transparency. 

• School district staff, parents and the general public have a legitimate interest in 
the performance review and the action plan that grows out of it. 

• The media may be interested in the performance review and may have questions 
about it. 
 

The method you use to share information depends on your specific situation, past 
practice in your school district and your audience. You may wish to use one or more of 
the options below: 

• A news release – which can be posted on your school district website as well as 
released to the media 

• A news conference 

• Publication of a short (two-page) summary of the performance review results and 
action plan on the school district website 

• Publication of the full review report and the full action plan on the school district 
website 

• An article in the school district newsletter and/or the newsletters of individual 
schools. 

 
If a board is considering informing external groups about their review process, we 
strongly recommend this be discussed before the process begins and that clear written 
guidelines be established before any action is taken. 
 

 

Appendices 
 
Board Performance Review Survey (can be forwarded to Board Chair/ Superintendent 
prior to taking survey if required) 
Learning Profile Self Assessment (found on the Learning Guide tab of the HUB) 
 



Agenda for Board Performance review (BPR)

This is your process and I am here from BCSTA to help facilitate the Board 

review. 

• Overview for the session
o Introductions
o shape of the day, breaks
o review process
o expectations for a successful day

• Overview PowerPoint
o Setting the stage for the review
o Some themes for each section

• Digging into the data
o Reviewing the tables/ graphs for each of the eight areas
o Distilling the themes

• Identifying the Areas of strength
o What areas are strong for the Board?
o Is it in certain categories?

• Identifying the Areas of possible concern
o What areas are concern for the Board?
o Is it in certain categories?

• Identifying the Areas of disagreement
o What areas are disagreement for the Board?
o Is it in certain categories?
o Review of anecdotal question 111
o Beyond the data—any other themes that need to be addressed?

• Key success factors and plans moving forward
o What are the keys to a strong board?
o What are the 3-4 key focus areas?

• Wrap up
o The take away plan—The BPR shouldn’t replace your other mechanisms such as

Strategic planning, facilitation plans, student improvement goals.
o Final thoughts?
o How was process?  How can BCSTA further help?
o Thank you for committing to this process



  



Please complete the NSBA Board of Directors’ Self-Assessment by March 1, 2019.

Directions: Carefully read each statement below. Then, determine how often the NSBA Board engages in
the activity mentioned in the statement. Indicate your choice by clicking on the appropriate response:

Instructions

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

Please provide your first and last name.

First Name*

Last Name*

1



Question 1

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board places the needs of our membership ahead of personal or political gain.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

2



Question 2

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board demonstrates a sincere and unselfish interest in public education.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

3



Question 3

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The conduct of the board promotes a positive image of the association.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

4



Question 4

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board makes decisions based on what is good for all members of the association and for the
association as a whole.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 5

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board works to ensure that available resources are allocated based on association priorities.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 6

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board views itself as a corporate Board of Directors.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 7

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board maintains open and constructive relations with State Associations.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 8

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board demonstrates a strong support for the Association efforts to communicate with its
membership and other key publics.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 9

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board maintains visibility, participating actively in Association affairs.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 10

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board conducts meetings in a businesslike manner, following accepted parliamentary
procedures.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

11



Question 11

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board has sufficient information and time to evaluate information in order to properly perform
its duties.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

12



Question 12

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board ensures that time spent on each agenda item is appropriate in terms of its importance.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 13

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

During board meetings, the board members are polite and treat each other, association personnel
and others with respect.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 14

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board provides the executive director a clear statement of its expectations for his/her
performance which is used in his/her evaluation.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half of the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

15



Question 15

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board works with the executive director to achieve a climate of good faith and good will
through teamwork and clear communication.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

16



Question 16

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board focuses on setting direction and adopting policy and avoids involving itself in the day-to-
day administration of the organization.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 17

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board operates according to written policies which it updates as necessary.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:
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Question 18

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

Board members feel comfortable sharing concerns in official board meetings.*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no kowledge

Further Comments:

19



Question 19

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board feels like it has appropriate time to discuss and share concerns and ideas with the
executive director.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

20



Question 20

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

There are an appropriate number of committees and committees are properly utilized to support the
work of the board.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

21



Question 21

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

The board functions in a manner that makes its individual members feel a sense of pride and
ownership.

*

Always

Most of the time

About half the time

Rarely or never

Have no knowledge

Further Comments:

22



Question 22

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

Please share anything regarding the board and its operations and relationships with the executive
director you wish to add.

23



Thank you for your participation in the Board Self Evaluation Instrument. Please check the box below and
click "Submit" when you are ready to submit the evaluation. You will not be able to change your answers
once you click "Submit".

Signature

NSBA Board of Directors Self-Evaluation - 2018

I agree that I, [Q1] [Q2], am the preparer of this document.*

I agree

24
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Superintendent Performance Planning and Review Process Introduction

Introduction
The following resource from the BC School Trustees Association (BCSTA) is meant as a  
tool to help boards of education oversee their superintendent’s performance through a 
clearly planned review process. The board of education is responsible for the success of the 
school district. It exercises this responsibility by setting direction, providing oversight and 
making decisions through a governance process that includes defining roles, structures  
and processes. 

Critical in this governance role is recruiting, hiring and supporting the superintendent or 
CEO. The board delegates responsibility for the day to day management of the business 
of the school district to the superintendent and relies on its CEO to align daily operations 
with board direction. In meeting its responsibility for oversight, the board must conduct a 
regular performance evaluation of the superintendent. 

Research conducted by Ken Leithwood and others is compelling, concluding that it is this 
kind of work that is characteristic of highly effective school districts. In the following pages 
you will find guidance on the key elements of a superintendent review process and useful 
templates for completion of this important task.

In that context, the board’s ongoing relationship with the superintendent is crucial to the effective operation 
of the district. In current times, when is it sometimes difficult to recruit senior personnel to school districts, it 
is even more important to be able to have practices in place that build good relationships between the board 
and its superintendent that focus on optimizing chances for success. 

The process of conducting a performance planning and review procedure is an important component of both 
oversight and of building good relationships, thus ensuring favourable outcomes. When conducted effectively, 
the process can enhance communications and result in a more effectively run school district. In 2017, the 
province established a direction to align compensation increases with performance, and this has placed a 
greater emphasis on effective processes for performance evaluation. This document outlines a process that is 
supported by research, is within PSEC requirements and is already used by many boards across the province. 
The recent joint Exempt Staff Evaluation Framework document signed by BCSTA, BCSSA, BCASBO and 
BCPVPA includes reference, support and key elements which are noted in this resource document and also in 
Appendix 4.

Why is the Performance Planning and Review Process Important?

In addition to fulfilling the board’s mandate of oversight of the school district, the process of evaluating 
the performance of the superintendent is a valuable one for both the board and the superintendent. A 
performance review generates feedback that ensures the board is meeting its responsibility to effectively 
lead the district and meet its goals. It provides feedback to guide the direction for the superintendent and 
to support growth within the role. It allows for clear communication about the board’s established priorities 
and direction and the superintendent’s decisions about aligning this direction with operations in the school 
district. Ultimately, it provides the basis upon which to establish remuneration, and, when necessary, to 
terminate a contract of employment with the superintendent. Specifically, the process of performance review 
helps to:
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Fulfill the board’s requirements for formal oversight of the school district.
Clarify and align the strategic direction set by the board with the superintendent’s responsibilities and 
to establish a focus for district priorities.
Ensure a formal and documented evaluation process that meets standards of fairness and practicality.
Promote better board and superintendent relations and to establish trust in order to ensure an 
appropriate and productive collaboration.
Allow boards to have greater objectivity about superintendent remuneration.
Set an example of accountability for the school district as a whole — signalling that performance 
management is a core culture of the organisation.
Ensures continued development of the superintendent to more effectively conduct their role. 
Provides an early warning system for possible problems.

Performance Review and Compensation 

The process for performance evaluation has always been a critical one for boards. This was only reinforced 
in 2017, when the province announced its intention to align compensation increases with performance 
evaluation. In response to this direction, the BCSTA, along with its partner groups of superintendents, 
secretary treasurers and principals, worked together to develop a common framework to guide school 
districts with the development of the performance evaluation process. The framework outlines initial steps 
and considerations. The slightly revised version below focuses specifically on the process as it affects the 
superintendent’s performance review. 

While each school district will want to create a process that reflects local needs, circumstances and 
preferences, there are common steps and considerations recommended to be followed by all boards in 
reaching a final determination of local policy and procedures. First among these is having a clear written job 
description for the superintendent. It is essential in planning for a performance evaluation that you have a 
clearly communicated set of expectations and criteria upon which to base a review. Other considerations 
outlined in the common framework are:

1. The formulation of policy in consultation with the superintendent. 

2. A clear delineation of roles and responsibilities between the board and superintendent (in their role as 
CEO representing the district management team) as early as possible in the development process. 

3. The development by staff of specific district and school procedures to operationalize the board’s policy 
direction.

4. Ongoing reporting and review processes to ensure the district’s policy and procedures are meeting 
both the external requirements and internal objectives. 

5. The alignment of evaluation processes with the expressed terms of employment contracts. Should a 
school district wish to adopt policy or procedures that do not align with current employment contracts, 
there must be a full review and possible revision of employment contracts to avoid legal liabilities as 
well as to ensure fairness and transparency for affected employees.

The three-step cycle outlined on page six of this document, and recommended for the performance planning 
and review for the superintendent, offers a well-researched direction for meeting the expectations of the 
province with respect to performance management. The formality required for the process is directly related 
to the importance it plays in the governance of the school district.
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Key Elements
As a starting point, the process rests on a foundation of mutual respect for the shared 
responsibility of the board and superintendent for student success in the school district. 
There is an understanding that there should be no surprises. Expectations are clear on the 
part of the board and the superintendent. Performance concerns, if any, are identified at 
an early stage, thereby providing opportunities for support and resolution. The common 
framework the BCSTA developed in collaboration with partner groups outlined important 
elements for a fair and effective performance evaluation process for all exempt staff. 
These constitute effective principles for a performance planning and review process 
for superintendents. The key elements outlined below are slightly revised from the 
common framework to focus specifically on the process as it affects the superintendent’s 
performance review.

1. Job Descriptions: Districts must have formal, accurate and up-to-date job descriptions (including 
specific roles and responsibilities) in place for the superintendent before the performance evaluation is 
initiated. 

2. Known Criteria: The criteria that inform the performance review should be clear and known in 
advance by both the board and the superintendent. The criteria and process should be adhered to 
from the beginning to the end of the process. Consideration of criteria for the superintendent are 
referenced later in this document.

3. Clear Procedures: Evaluation and reporting processes must be clearly articulated, transparent and 
followed by all involved. Step-by-step written procedures known to everyone in advance of any process 
beginning are required. Such processes and procedures should be developed by the board of education 
as policy in collaboration with the superintendent.

4. Regular Review and Reporting: The evaluation process should include a regular review and reporting 
process. It is recommended the reporting process include procedures for the collection and storage of 
final documents and any supporting data.

5. Evidence Based: The final outcome of each evaluation process must include the data and 
determinations needed to justify differentiation in both the superintendent’s level of job performance 
and resulting compensation improvements. In short, evaluation processes must generate the objective 
evidence necessary to help determine and justify differentiated levels of individual performance and 
resulting compensation improvements.

6. Confidentiality: Confidentiality must be maintained at all times. 

7. Roles and Responsibilities: There should be a clear indication of roles and responsibilities for each 
step of the evaluation process articulated in district policy and procedures. 

8. Supervisor-Focused Process: For processes other than the superintendent’s performance evaluation, 
whenever possible, the person completing the evaluation of an exempt staff member should be the 
individual’s immediate supervisor. In general terms, principals should evaluate vice-principals, Directors 
should evaluate principals and superintendents should evaluate assistant superintendents, etc.
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9. Determination of Compensation A wards:  All decisions related to individual compensation 
improvements (following the evaluation process) for other than the superintendent should be made 
at the district staff level. It is strongly suggested that all decisions regarding individual compensation 
be centralized and assigned only to the superintendent, secretary treasurer or director of human 
resources, with final sign-off by the superintendent/CEO. 

An exempt staff person will be assigned an initial salary placement and will not be eligible for a salary 
increase until the end of their first year in the assignment. 

Boards of education retain the responsibility for the allocation and approval of budget to implement 
compensation improvements determined by the superintendent/CEO. Final authority to allocate 
budget for the purpose of paying exempt staff proposed compensation improvements rests with the 
board. Any questions the board may have in this regard should be referred to the BC Public School 
Employers’ Association (BCPSEA).

10. Growth and Performance Indicators: The overall evaluation process should be based on a 
combination of goal or growth-based outcomes and performance indicators. This may mean, however, 
that a goal or growth plan based process is undertaken in a majority of years, while more fulsome 
performance indicator reviews are completed less often. 

A practical approach to the consideration of both forms of review could be to review growth-based 
indicators in certain years (e.g. years one, three and four of a five-year cycle) and performance 
indicators in the off-setting years (e.g. years two and five of a five-year cycle). The combination of 
review processes, as well as the timeline cycle, are to be determined by individual districts with 
consideration given to local resources, focus and employment contracts.

11. Concise Focus: When individual growth plans are established, the number of focus items included in 
any year should be small (e.g. one or two). In most cases, the specific goals would be determined by 
the superintendent in collaboration with the board in consideration of district direction, performance 
concerns, changes in roles or responsibilities, or other external considerations.

12. Transparency: The collection of input from the superintendent’s subordinates, direct reports, parents 
or partner group contacts should not be done on an anonymous basis. While it is appropriate to collect 
survey data directly related to an individual’s role and responsibilities, respondents must be willing 
and required to sign-off on their submission. The superintendent must also have the opportunity to 
respond to the information collected prior to any final decision.

13. Context: Individual context is important. The performance review process should assess those 
aspects of performance over which the superintendent has control and should reflect the particular 
work context. Consideration must be given to the length of time the superintendent has spent in the 
assignment, previous culture in the workplace, labour unrest and other circumstances which may 
affect outcomes. Individuals who take on difficult situations, or who operate in more complex or hostile 
situations, must have this context considered when their overall success indicators are reviewed. 

14. Right to Respond: Superintendents must have the opportunity to raise concerns about the process 
and/or to review and respond to the evaluation report before it is fully finalized. Such reviews 
processes must be conducted in good faith and with some assurance they might affect the final 
outcome of the evaluation process.

15. Less Than Satisfactory Outcomes: The performance review model contemplated here is designed 
for superintendents deemed to be meeting the requirements to continue in their current position. 
Should the performance review process raise questions about a superintendent’s suitability to retain 
their position, the process should be suspended and transition into a formal evaluation/review as 
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expressed in the employment contract and/or district policy. The switch to a formal evaluation/review 
to determine competency may involve additional legal consultation and consideration of such factors 
as section 21 of the , severance, or other legal or contractual provisions. 

16. Governance: The board of education should review its policies and processes governing 
superintendent evaluation on a reasonably regular basis. Prior consideration must be given to the 
current content of employment contracts as well as to the inclusion of corresponding language in new 
or revised contracts.

Although the outcomes of the performance review may influence decisions regarding the superintendent’s 
contract renewal and compensation, this should not be the sole purpose of the process. In all these 
considerations, it should not be lost that one of the main intents of the process is to provide oversight of the 
school district. The process provides for formative, developmental feedback to the superintendent in order to 
optimize future performance. If significant performance or relationship issues already exist, these should be 
addressed before starting the performance evaluation process. The BC School Trustees Association (BCSTA) 
can assist boards with locating facilitation and mediation services, if needed. 



Superintendent Performance Planning and Review Process

6

Planning Cycle
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The Performance Review Planning Cycle

Step One: Performance Planning

Some points to remember as the board and superintendent begin the process of performance planning and 
review.

To initiate the process, the board should review policy in place outlining the process for evaluation. If 
there is no policy, one should be developed. BCSTA can provide examples of these policies.
A meeting of the board and superintendent should involve a review of the policy and process.
It should be noted that there could be reasons to delay the process. If there are critical issues in the 
school district or there is a strained relationship between the board and the superintendent, other 
processes should be used to deal with these issues prior to a performance review.
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The board should review the superintendent’s contract for employment to see what relevant clauses, if 
any, will affect the process.
The board should gather all relevant documents including strategic plan, board mission statement, 
values, recent district plans and/or superintendent reviews.
Taking into consideration board goals and plans, the board and the superintendent should agree on 
some key results or goals for the months ahead for the superintendent. There should be a focus on one 
or two areas of priority. See Appendix 1 for information about goal setting.
Using the BC School Superintendents Association (BCSSA) Dimensions of Practice as a guide, the 
board and superintendent should agree on a few key competencies on which to focus. The Dimensions 
of Practice were developed by the BCSSA to describe best practice. They can be defined as the 
knowledge, skills and values important to the superintendent’s role. See Appendix 2.
The board and superintendent should agree on a schedule for ongoing progress meetings throughout 
the cycle.

Step T wo: Ongoing Monitoring and Feedback

Regularly scheduled communication to check in on progress towards the goals set in the plan is the critical 
phase of this model for performance review. It is during these meetings that the board can provide praise 
where warranted and offer advice and support where needed. It is also the time when the superintendent can 
explain contextual issues. It is possible that the performance plan will need to be adjusted to reflect changing 
situations in the district. 

The ongoing feedback brings the plan to life and makes it dynamic and realistic. The discussion creates the 
basis for an ongoing trusting relationship and collaboration based on respect.

It is important, therefore, that these meetings take place regularly.

Step Three: Review and Assessment

The review process culminates with the preparation of a summary report of the level of success achieved 
with respect to the plan developed. It should also include recommendations for future focus and growth. The 
report is developed in a collaborative process and it is important to have the superintendent involved and in 
agreement with the conclusions reached, to the extent possible. However, it is the ultimate responsibility of 
the board to complete a written record, outlining areas for celebration and areas for possible improvement. 

This step of the process will be used for planning the next cycle. It will be used to justify compensation 
changes. In extreme examples it could be used to trigger a formal process for consideration of termination. 
Therefore, it important to have reliable data upon which to base the summary report.

Useful and reliable data can come from a variety of sources:

The superintendent’s self-assessment is a critical piece of information.
Surveys and interviews with key senior staff, employee groups and/or parents can be useful. It is 
essential, if these data sources are used, that the survey or interview questions be carefully developed. 
It is also important that the participants’ feedback through these methods not be anonymous. In the 
end, the information offered is someone’s perception of the situation and so information must be 
considered in this light.
The board members have their own perceptions of the progress towards the goals and priorities they 
have established.
Student achievement data is one piece of information will be useful. 
The superintendent’s regular reports to the board or to the Ministry of Education can also be useful.
An environmental scan of the current context in the school district: labour unrest, ministry policy, 
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critical incidents, and other issues outside of the control of the superintendent should be identified as 
they affect performance.
In developing the summary report, it is important to be clear and concise.
Carefully assess the data received from the various sources, along with the context.
Provide clear comments related to progress in reaching goals and competencies as evidenced in the 
data.
Use concrete examples to support comments.
Ensure the report is signed by both the chair of the board and the superintendent.

As this step in the cycle is also the first step for the next cycle, an honest and open discussion of the 
summary report is critical. It will enhance communications, and it will inform the focus and next set of 
priorities for the superintendent.

It is important to note that it is absolutely essential that legal counsel be consulted in the event that the 
board deems they are required to pursue further action with respect to discipline, change of contract or 
dismissal at the conclusion of the review and assessment phase. 

Some Practical Information

BCSTA staff can assist with planning for the process and for addressing issues that arise as a result of 
engaging in the performance planning and review cycle.
Refer to the  on the BCSTA HUB for more 
information on the role of trustees in the governance of the school district.
Examples of polices on the evaluation of the superintendent are available on the BCSTA website.
One sample of a form used to support the three steps in the process is attached as Appendix 3.
Additional information about performance evaluation is available in references cited in Appendix 4.
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Appendix 1
A frequently used guide to writing goals is the SMART acronym. 

Specific: They specify a single, precise goal or outcome.

Measurable: They are written in observable terms specifying quantifiable outcomes where possible.

Attainable: They are realistic but represent an appropriate level of challenge.

Relevant: They are directly related to the superintendent’s responsibilities and within their control.

Trackable/Time Limited: They are time-limited and progress towards the outcome can be reported. 
This is reported during the scheduled feedback sessions in step two. At the time of the performance 
review (step three) it should be clear whether or not the superintendent has achieved the key results.
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Appendix 2
Dimensions of Practice

Developed by the BC School Superintendents Association (BCSSA) 

1. Leadership and District Culture: Will know and be able to develop a collective district vision; shape 
school culture and climate; provide purpose and direction for individuals and groups; demonstrate an 
understanding of international issues affecting education; formulate strategic plans, goals and change 
efforts with staff and community; set priorities in the context of community, student and staff needs; 
serve as an articulate spokesperson for the welfare of all students in a multicultural context of public 
education.

2. Policy and Governance: Will be able to develop procedures for working with the board of trustees 
that define mutual expectations, working relationships and strategies for formulating district policy for 
external and internal programs; adjust local policy to provincial requirements and recognize and apply 
standards involving accountability across the system.

3. Communications and Community Relations: Will be able to articulate district purpose and priorities 
to the community and mass media, request and respond to community feedback, and demonstrate 
consensus-building and conflict mediation. Will be able to identify, track, and deal with issues; 
formulate and carry out plans for internal and external communications; exhibit an understanding of 
school districts as political systems; apply communication skills to strengthen community support, 
align constituencies in support of district priorities; build coalitions to gain financial and programmatic 
support; develop and implement related political initiatives for the wellness of children.

4. Organizational Management: Will be able to exhibit an understanding of the school district as a 
system by defining processes for gathering, analyzing, and using data for decision-making. Will 
manage the data flow; frame and solve problems; frame and develop priorities to formulate solutions; 
assist others to form reasoned opinions; reach logical conclusions and make quality decisions to 
meet internal and external customer expectations; plan and schedule personal and organizational 
work; establish procedures to regulate activities and projects; delegate and empower at appropriate 
organizational levels; secure and allocate human and material resources; develop and manage the 
district budget; and maintain accurate fiscal records.

5. Curriculum Planning and Development: Will demonstrate leadership in the design of curriculum and 
a strategic plan that enhances teaching and learning in multiple contexts. They will provide planning 
and future methods to anticipate occupational trends and their educational implications; identify 
taxonomies of instructional objectives and validation procedures for curricular units, using theories of 
cognitive development; align and sequence curriculum; use valid and reliable performance indicators 
and testing procedures to measure performance outcomes; and describe the proper use of computers 
and other learning and information technologies.

6. Instructional Management and District Accountability: Will be able to exhibit knowledge of 
instructional management by implementing a system that includes research findings on learning 
and instructional strategies, instructional time, advanced electronic technologies, and resources to 
maximize student outcomes. They will be able to describe and apply research and best practices to 
integrating curriculum and resources for multicultural sensitivity, and to assessment strategies for 
helping all students achieve high levels.
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7. Human Resources Management: Will be able to develop a staff evaluation and development system 
to improve the performance of all staff members. They will be able to select appropriate models for 
supervision based on adult motivation research. They will be able to understand and be able to lead in 
a unionized environment.

8. Values and Ethics of Leadership: Will be able to understand and model appropriate value systems, 
ethics, and moral leadership. They will know the role of education in a democratic society; exhibit 
multicultural and ethnic understanding and related behaviour; adapt educational programming to 
the needs of diverse constituencies; balance complex community demands in the best interest of the 
student; scan and monitor the environment for opportunities for staff and students; respond in an 
ethical and skilled way to the electronic and printed media; and coordinate social agencies and human 
services to help each student grow and develop as a caring, informed citizen.
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Appendix 3
Sample Performance Planning and Review Form

SUPERINTENDENT:

SCHOOL DISTRICT:

PERIOD COVERED BY PERFORMANCE PLAN:

DATE PERFORMANCE PLAN WAS COMPLETED:

DATE PERFORMANCE REVIEW WAS COMPLETED:

PROCESS:

STEP ONE: Completion of Superintendent Performance Plan

The board and superintendent get clear about and agree on key direction, including results to 
be achieved and competencies to demonstrate.
Board and superintendent each retain a copy of this form for future discussions.

STEP TWO: Monitoring and Ongoing Feedback

The board and superintendent establish regular opportunities to discuss progress, offer 
support, provide positive feedback, agree to adjust direction if the situation demands that.

STEP THREE: Summary Report

The board collects data about goals and performance from a variety of reliable sources.
The board and superintendent formally agree on how well things have been going and where 
the school district and superintendent need to focus next.
The board and superintendent sign off on the final review.
The results are used to begin planning for the next cycle.  

PERFORMANCE PLANNING AND REVIEW FORM
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SECTION 1: GOALS

1. Agree on three to five specific and measurable outcomes to be achieved this year.

2. These should be related to district goals and student achievement.

3. The review comments section is used to comment on the goals at the end of the year. 
 
Include answers to the following: Has the goal been achieved?  What are the outcomes? What 
factors contributed to the outcomes?

GOALS REVIEW COMMENTS
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SECTION 2: COMPETENCIES

Using the  document as a guide, select three to five competencies to focus on 
for the next year.

The review comments section is used to comment on the demonstration of the selected competencies.

COMPETENCIES REVIEW COMMENTS
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SECTION 3: SUMMARY AND COMMENTS

Summary Report and Recommendations
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Board Comments

Board Chair Date
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Superintendent Comments

Superintendent Date
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Appendix 4
Transition to Performance Based Compensation through Exempt Staff Evaluation

A Guiding Framework for Boards of Education and School Districts

Preamble

This document was developed in response to the Provincial direction to align compensation increases 
with performance management. The guiding framework is intended to assist districts and boards with 
development of this process, with the overarching intent that there be some consistency across the province. 
The document recognizes, however, that individual Boards of Education will implement policy that best 
meets the needs of their school district, and that further changes and additions may also be necessary in the 
coming years as the situation matures or new provincial requirements are mandated.

Background

On September 13, 2012, the provincial government, through the Ministry of Finance and under the authority 
of the , issued common policy direction to all public sector employers (including 
school districts) regarding future compensation improvements for all non-union employees (i.e. exempt staff). 
This direction to all public sector employers remains in effect today.

The 2012 directive had little in the way of immediate implications for employers, though, due to the 
concurrent imposition of a wage freeze for all public sector exempt staff. Preparation for a post-freeze 
environment began in 2013 when the BC Public Schools Employers’ Association (BCPSEA) revived the 
Exempt Staff Compensation Working Group. The October 2014 report of this working group (which included 
representatives from each of the organizations representing exempt staff) articulated a compensation 
philosophy aligned with the PSEC policy guidelines as well as creating regional wage grids for K-12 exempt 
staff. 

On June 25, 2015, the Public Sector Employers’ Council (PSEC) issued an update to their member 
organizations, including the BC Public Schools Employers’ Association (BCPSEA), outlining the requirements 
and next steps for ‘reaffirming the BC Public Sector Compensation Review’s findings that shared principles 
would encourage greater rigour and consistency in the determination of compensation’. As part of the terms 
of the policy, public sector employers were directed to prepare ‘compensation plans consistent with the 
Minister’s direction.’  

Subsequently, employers were asked to update and align their compensation plans with the following core 
principles established by government:

Performance: Compensation programs support and promote a performance-based organizational 
(merit) culture.

Differentiation: Differentiation of salary is supported where there are differences in the scope of the 
position within an organization, and/or due to superior individual and team contributions.

Accountability: Compensation decisions are objective and based upon clear and well documented 
business rationale that demonstrates the appropriate expenditure of public funds.

Transparent: Compensation programs are designed, managed and communicated in a manner that 
ensures the program is clearly understood by employees and the public while protecting individual 
personal information.
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Detailed information can be found in the 
, as well as the BCPSEA report, 

.

In June 2015, PSEC announced amendments to the management compensation freeze that allowed for 
modest compensation improvements during the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 school years for eligible employees. 
School districts were, however, still required to observe these core principles as well as the related PSEC 
regulations when implementing any compensation improvements for their exempt staff. It is important to 
note that the increases permitted are not to be applied as a general wage increase, but as increases up to 
the permitted maximum that are differentiated on the basis of high achievement/performance, recruitment/
retention risks, and demonstrated salary compression or inversion. 

Future wage increases for exempt staff will need to be based at least in part on the requirement for 
differentiation due to superior individual and team contributions supporting a performance-based 
organizational culture. Other factors to be considered include: experience, tenure, changes in job complexity 
or responsibilities, recruitment and retention. Although initial compensation improvements approved under 
this plan could be based only on demonstrated salary compression or inversion and/or recruitment/retention 
risks, all subsequent improvements are subject to the differentiation requirement.

In short, future wage increases for exempt staff in the K-12 public education sector will have to be based 
at least in part on individual employee performance, resulting in differentiated individual employee 
compensation improvements.

B.C. school districts must put in place a comprehensive plan to evaluate the work performance of all exempt 
staff on a regular basis, and to fairly and accurately articulate different levels of individual performance in 
part for the purpose of assigning appropriate (varied) wage increases to eligible employees. Failure by a 
district to put in place such evaluation and reporting measures will almost certainly result in the district being 
denied the opportunity to provide eligible exempt staff with compensation improvements under current PSEC 
guidelines. 

In other words, BCPSEA is very unlikely to approve wage increases for exempt staff if they are proposed as 
a general compensation improvement for all members of a category of exempt staff (e.g. all school based 
administrators or all senior district staff).

Purpose

The purpose of this suggested Framework is to provide boards of education and their school districts with 
the guiding principles and resources necessary to fulfill the PSEC requirement, while respecting the need 
for both local decision-making and an evaluation model that is context appropriate. It should be emphasized 
that the Framework is not a ‘fill in the blanks’ or ‘cut and paste’ model. Individual boards, in consultation with 
their senior staff, will need to establish local policy to guide this work. We would also like to emphasize our 
belief that the establishment of local policy and processes is best done in consultation with the exempt staff 
affected by the decisions.

Initial Steps and Considerations

While each school district will want to create a process that reflects local needs, circumstance, and 
preferences, there are common steps and considerations that we recommend be followed by all boards in 
reaching a final determination of local policy and procedures. These include:

1. The formulation of policy in consultation with the members of your senior district team and exempt 
staff employee group(s).
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2. A clear delineation of roles and responsibilities between the board and superintendent (in their role as 
CEO representing the district management team) as early as possible in the development process.

3. The development by staff of specific district and school procedures through to operationalize the 
board’s policy direction.

4. Annual reporting and review processes (at both the staff and board levels) to ensure the district’s 
policy and procedures are meeting both the external requirements and your internal objectives. 

5. Evaluation processes must align with the expressed terms of employment contracts. Should a school 
district wish to adopt policy or procedures that do not align with current employment contracts, there 
must be a full review and possible revision of employment contracts to avoid legal liabilities as well as 
to ensure fairness and transparency for affected employees.

Key Elements

As school districts set out to create the policy and procedures needed to guide the evaluation of exempt staff 
(within PSEC requirements), there are a number of key elements or parameters that should be met. These 
include: 

1. Job Descriptions: Districts must have formal, accurate and up-to-date job descriptions (including 
specific roles and responsibilities) in place for all exempt staff before individual evaluation 
processes are initiated. Exempt staff must be made fully aware of their current individual roles and 
responsibilities as well as any other expectations expressed by their employer (i.e. their school district).

2. Known Criteria: The criteria that inform the performance review should be clear and known in 
advance by both the supervisor and person undergoing review. The criteria and process should be 
adhered to from the beginning to the end of the process. Consideration of criteria for each of the 
major employee groups of principals and vice-principals, business officials, and senior educators are 
referenced later in this document.

3. Clear Procedures: Evaluation and reporting processes must be clearly articulated, transparent and 
followed by all involved. Step by step written procedures known to everyone in advance of any process 
beginning are required. Such processes and procedures should be developed by the Superintendent or 
their designate, in support of policy implemented by the board of education.

4. Regular Review and Reporting: The evaluation process should include a regular review and reporting 
process for all exempt staff members. It is recommended the reporting process include procedures for 
the collection and storage of final documents and any supporting data at the district level (rather than 
the school or building level).

5. Evidence Based: The final outcome of each evaluation process must include the data and 
determinations needed to justify differentiation in both the individual’s level of job performance and 
resulting compensation improvements. In short, evaluation processes must generate the objective 
evidence necessary to help determine and justify differentiated levels of individual performance and 
resulting compensation improvements.

6. Confidentiality: Confidentiality must be maintained at all times. Individual results should only be 
shared on a need-to-know basis, including with senior staff and trustees.

7. Roles and Responsibilities: There should be a clear indication of roles and responsibilities for 
each level and step(s) of the evaluation process articulated in district policy and procedures. 
It is recommended that responsibility for all district evaluation processes be assigned to the 
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Superintendent/CEO (other than their own review which should rest with the board of education), who 
may then reassign the specific oversight work to another senior staff designate. 

8. Supervisor Focused Process: Whenever possible, the person completing the evaluation of an exempt 
staff member should be the individual’s immediate supervisor. In general terms, Principals should 
evaluate Vice-Principals, Directors should evaluate Principals, and Superintendents should evaluate 
Assistant Superintendents, etc.

9. Determination of Compensation A wards: Following the evaluation process, all decisions related 
to individual compensation improvements should be made at the district staff level. It is strongly 
suggested that all decisions regarding individual compensation be centralized and assigned only to 
the Superintendent, Secretary Treasurer or Director of Human Resources, with final sign-off by the 
Superintendent/CEO. 

An exempt staff person will be assigned an initial salary placement and will not be eligible for a salary 
increase until the end of their first year in the assignment. 

Boards of Education retain the responsibility for the allocation and approval of budget to implement 
compensation improvements determined by the Superintendent / CEO. Final authority to allocate 
budget for the purpose of paying exempt staff proposed compensation improvements rests with the 
board.

10. Growth and Performance Indicators: The overall evaluation process should be based on a 
combination of goal or growth-based outcomes and performance indicators. This may mean, however, 
that a goal or growth plan based process is undertaken in a majority of years, while more fulsome 
performance indicator reviews are completed less often. 

A practical approach to the consideration of both forms of review could be to review growth-based 
indicators in certain years (e.g. years 1, 3 and 4 of a 5-year cycle) and performance indicators in the 
off-setting years (e.g. years 2 and 5 of a 5-year cycle). The combination of review processes as well as 
the timeline cycle to be determined by individual districts in consideration of local resources, focus and 
employment contracts.

11. Concise Focus: When individual growth plans are established, the number of focus items included in 
any year should be small (e.g. one or two). In most cases, the specific goals would be determined by 
the individual employee with consideration of school and district goals as well as supervisor input. 
Supervisors and districts may, however, assign specific growth goals to an individual in consideration 
of district direction, performance concerns, changes in roles or responsibilities, or other external 
considerations.

12. Transparency: The collection of input from an individual’s subordinates, direct reports, parents or 
partner group contacts should not be done on an anonymous basis. While it is appropriate to collect 
survey data directly related to an individual’s role and responsibilities, respondents must be willing 
and required to ‘sign-off’ on their submission. The individual being evaluated must also have the 
opportunity to respond to the information collected prior to any final decision.

13. Context: Individual context is important. The performance review process should assess those 
aspects of performance over which the individual has control and should reflect the particular work 
context. Consideration must be given to the length of time the person has spent in the assignment, 
expectations imposed by the supervisor or board, the previous culture in the workplace, labour unrest, 
and other circumstances which may affect outcomes. Individuals who take on difficult situations, 
or who operate in more complex or hostile situations must have this context considered when their 
overall success indicators are reviewed. 
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14. Right to Respond: Individuals being evaluated must have the opportunity to raise concerns about the 
process and/or to review and respond to the evaluation report before it is fully finalized. Such reviews 
processes must be conducted in good faith and with some assurance they might affect the final 
outcome of the evaluation process.

15. Less Than Satisfactory Outcomes: The performance review model contemplated here is designed 
for persons deemed to be meeting the requirements to continue in their current position. Should the 
performance review process raise questions about an individual’s suitability to retain their position, 
the process should be suspended and transition into a formal evaluation / review as expressed in 
the individual’s employment contract or district policy. The switch to a formal evaluation / review 
to determine competency may involve another evaluator as well as consideration of such factors as 
section 21 of the , severance, or other legal or contractual provisions. 

16. Governance: The district should review its policies and processes governing exempt staff evaluation 
on a reasonably regular basis. The board of education shall approve the updating of policy where 
necessary. Prior consideration must be given to the current content of employment contracts with 
exempt staff as well as to the inclusion of corresponding language in new or revised contracts.

Evaluation and Reporting by Employee Group

Once governing district policy has been established or reconfirmed by a board, it will be important that the 
supporting procedures created and implemented by staff reflect not only the key elements noted above, 
but the unique roles and responsibilities for each exempt staff employee group. While the most common 
groupings are addressed here, there may be individual positions and/or groups of employees that do not fit 
under these general headings. Districts may need to develop specialized language and procedures to cover 
unique positions or circumstances.

In all cases, these employee groupings are intended to cover individuals who are not included under a union-
management collective agreement. They are by definition ‘exempt’ management employees who are not 
included as part of any union contract.

1. Principals and Vice-Principals 
This group may include: District Principals and Vice-Principals, whether assigned to a school or 
a district role (e.g., Principals of Student Services, Aboriginal Education or Distributed Learning) 
depending on School District configuration and exempt staff association membership. 

Once job descriptions are in place, the recommended basis for evaluation of this employee group 
is the  established by the BC Principals and Vice-Principals Association. The 
BCPVPA Standards are organized around four major themes: Instructional Leadership, Organizational 
Leadership, Relational Leadership and Moral Stewardship and reflect a research-based and current 
(the Standards were revised in 2014) understanding of the role of principals and vice-principals. The 
BCPVPA Standards are used in many districts to inform both professional growth plans and formal 
evaluations and the Standards are well-known and accepted by the BCPVPA membership. The BCPVPA 
package includes a self-assessment tool that provides a useful tool to begin a conversation and identify 
areas for growth. The BCPVPA Leadership Standards are adaptable for use in developing growth plans 
or for more formal, summative evaluations.

2. Senior District Educators 
This group may include Superintendents, Assistant (Deputy) Superintendents, Directors of Instruction, 
District Principals and District Vice-Principals.  

The BC School Superintendents Association’s  is suggested as the basis for the 
performance review practices for these senior district educators. These Dimensions are widely known 
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and used by BCSSA’s members and for many years the previous version was part of the BCSTA/BCSSA 
agreed upon document for use in reviewing senior exempt staff. 

It should be noted as well that the board of education will have a unique responsibility and role in the 
evaluating the superintendent as the district’s CEO and most often the only direct report to the board.

3. Business Officials and other non-educator exempt positions 
This grouping includes not only the secretary treasurer, assistant secretary treasurer and director of 
finance, but all other non-educator management staff in the school district. It is somewhat unique in 
that the variation of job descriptions, roles and responsibilities between positions and individuals is the 
greatest.

Performance expectations for these individuals can be developed from a review of the:

Job description of the positions, 
Skills and competencies outlined in the  (by Lyle Boyce, 
December, 2016) and 
Goals and objectives of the school district and business departments

When school districts intend to rely on locally established job descriptions (including roles and responsibilities 
applicable to individual employees) as the basis for evaluation, it is critical that such documentation is in 
place before any evaluation process begins.

Linking Employee Evaluation to Compensation Improvements

Not every employee performs their job at a level equal to their colleagues within the same school district or 
other school districts. Although the employee may be performing above the reasonable standard to retain 
their position, this does not automatically entitle them to the same compensation improvements as other 
employees who may be performing at a significantly higher level.

It is strongly recommended that all processes for determining individual compensation levels and 
improvements take place at the district level and be overseen by an appropriate senior district staff 
member (e.g. Director of Human Resources, Secretary Treasurer or Superintendent), with final sign-off 
by the Superintendent / CEO. A centralized approach to compensation is critical to ensure consistency, 
accountability and fairness. 

The philosophy and program requirements of the PSEC model under which all public sector employers 
operate mandates that compensation improvements provided to individual employees must be on 
the principles of performance based standards and differentiation (outlined in the  – 
Implementing a Common Compensation Philosophy for the B.C. Public Sector). It is critical that differentiation 
in compensation improvements not only happen, but that they are directly tied to the outcomes of a fair, 
transparent and professional employee evaluation policy and process. Resulting differences in compensation 
improvements provided to individual employees should not be a surprise, arbitrary or unjustified.

Although the granting or withholding of compensation improvements comes at the end of the evaluation 
process, it must flow directly from all of the properly conducted steps that precede that decision. Further 
information regarding the specific processes and authorizations needed to enact exempt staff compensation 
improvements can be obtained through BCPSEA. General background information can be found on this 

.
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Where Do I Go for More Information?

There are a number of sources of additional information or explanation depending upon the questions that 
you have. You may wish to contact any one of the following, at least as a starting point for answers to your 
questions. Members of exempt staff are encouraged to contact their various associations for information that 
pertains to their specific circumstance and association.

BC School Trustees Association
BC School Superintendents Association
BC Association of School Business Officials
BC Principals and Vice-Principals Association
BC Public School Employers Association - regarding compensation issues

Additional Resources

BC Public Sector Compensation Review – October 2014
Performance Reporting Principles for the British Columbia Public Sector

Options for Performance Review

Professional Growth Plan Based Evaluation

Best practice supports all employees completing a yearly professional growth plan. The primary intent of 
the plan is to identify personal learning objectives aimed at improving work performance and maintaining 
currency, including meeting both personal and district determined strategic objectives.

The establishment and monitoring of an individual’s personal professional growth plan may also form part of 
an employee’s evaluation. Where professional growth plans are intended to form the basis for an employee’s 
annual evaluation, the following should be considered:

Annual growth plan goals should be established by the individual employee in consultation with their 
immediate supervisor and should consider both personal and district strategic goals. Where necessary, 
goals may be assigned to the employee by the supervisor to address an area of concern or required 
growth.

When the attainment of goals is to form all or part of an employee’s evaluation, there must be clear, 
measurable outcomes attached to the goals. Reporting should be based on the outcomes.

Boards may wish to consider implementing only the growth plan based portion of their overall policy 
on exempt staff evaluation in the first year. The establishment of procedures to conduct proper staff 
performance reviews as well as the needed professional learning to support the procedures should not be 
rushed. A poorly constructed or implemented process may do more harm than good.

Evaluation Based on Established Performance Targets and Measurements

School districts may appropriately wish to engage in the evaluation of exempt staff based on the meeting 
of established performance targets or other measures of individual performance based on pre-determined, 
expected outcomes.

For example, an individual employee could be evaluated, in part, on their success in meeting appropriate 
performance targets (e.g. student success improvements, maintenance or construction completion targets, 
financial management targets, etc.). An employee might also be evaluated in regard to the completion of 
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assigned projects or initiatives within a specified time period or against pre-established criteria (e.g. the 
implementation of new IT systems, the establishment of a new HR tracking procedure, the expansion of 
specific educational programs for students, etc.). In both cases, it is important that:

The scope of the project or performance standard be established in advance of the evaluation process.

That the outcome of the evaluation process be based on pre-established targets or criteria, and would 
consider a range of performance indicators (e.g. not met, met, exceeded, etc.).

The evaluation be based on targets or initiatives over which the employee has direct or at least 
substantial control. It would, for instance, be inappropriate to base the evaluation of an employee on 
circumstance or decisions over which they have no or little control. Circumstances where a board and/
or senior staff take over effective control of a project or decision must be considered in this regard.

Where student success is to be used as a performance indicator, it is critical that context be considered. 
The progress of specialized groups of learners (e.g. Aboriginal students or English Language Learners) 
over time, or the implementation of district or school programs, may be appropriate measures, while a 
‘snapshot’ of student success without consideration of context or trends is not appropriate.

Determination of an individual’s overall performance must take into consideration the context of their 
situation. More difficult situations or circumstance should not negatively affect the determination of 
an individual’s performance.

Once again, it is important that individual employees have the opportunity to respond to the final evaluation 
criteria and decisions before they are finalized.

360 Evaluations Based on Survey Results

Evaluation processes that utilize broad-based surveys of subordinates, colleagues and/or parents are often 
referred to as ‘360 evaluations’ as they attempt to sample interactions with all of an individual’s work 
contacts. While 360 processes can be useful as a growth focused tool for individual consideration, there 
are significant concerns regarding their use as an evaluation tool. 360 evaluations that utilize anonymous 
surveys are of particular concern as they can open an employee to retribution and provide no opportunity for 
an individual to respond to unfair or unreasonable commentary.

When a district does decide to utilize a 360 evaluation, it is suggested the following considerations be 
implemented:

All survey responses must identify the respondent and their role.

Survey questions would be limited to areas where the respondent has a direct knowledge of that 
portion of the individual’s work (i.e. do not ask respondents to comment on or judge areas of an 
individual’s work that they have not directly observed).

Provide the individual being evaluated an opportunity to review the collected data / responses and give 
feedback to the evaluator(s).

Ensure confidentiality of any collected data / responses.

Ensure context is considered when reviewing survey responses. Making tough, but appropriate 
decisions is not always popular. 

Consider using 360 feedback only as a developmental tool for individual growth, rather than 
evaluation.
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Performance 
Planning and
Review
for School Superintendents



Board Concerns

▪ We’re too busy

▪ Feels uncomfortable

▪ Don’t want to damage the 
relationship

▪ We don’t know enough about the 
job to evaluate the performance

▪ There are no performance 
problems right now



Superintendent Concerns

▪ I’m too busy for this

▪ Feels uncomfortable

▪ They don’t know my job - how 
can they assess my performance?

▪ Are they unhappy with me?

▪ I feel like I am under the 
microscope



Why Bother?

▪ To clarify & align goals

▪ To build performance

▪ To build relationships

▪ To increase role understanding

▪ To prevent performance issues

▪ To fulfill accountability responsibilities

▪ To provide opportunity for further dialogue 
about what’s important



Important Principles

▪ Be clear on the purposes

▪ Build the process with the 
superintendent (done with not to)

▪ Limit perceptions of risk and fear

▪ Be future focused

▪ No surprises

▪ Don’t use it as a complaints basket



Traditional Performance Review

▪ More common approach

▪ Scheduled event (yearly or less frequent)

▪ Tends to be summative in nature

▪ Collects “data” about the superintendent's performance and feeds it 
back

Advantages

▪ Can be done relatively quickly

▪ Lots of examples of forms/questions/surveys to use

Disadvantages

▪ Less engagement/commitment  to development

▪ Tends to be an isolated event (get it over with)

▪ Research shows it doesn’t build long term improvement



Performance Planning & Review 

▪ 3-step process – ongoing throughout the year
▪ Focuses on a sample of key outcomes to be achieved over coming 

year and competencies required to get there
▪ Managed mutually by board and superintendent

Advantages

▪ Aligns board and superintendent goals/planning
▪ Forward looking
▪ Builds relationship and performance

Disadvantages

▪ Requires more commitment (not necessarily more time)
▪ May feel ambiguous  - not a stand-alone event



Performance Planning & Review

Step One:

Performance Planning

• Agree on key results

• Agree on competencies

• Agree on review and 

feedback schedule

Step Two:

Ongoing Communication

• Scheduled check-ins on 

progress

• Positive reinforcement or 

adjustment as required

Step Three:

Review and Learning

• Data gathering & evaluation 

of progress on key results 

and competencies

• Discussion about successes 

and areas for development

• Learning and planning –

incorporated into the next 

cycle



Things to Consider

▪ Board’s policy

▪ Superintendent’s contract

▪ Current district climate

▪ Is this the best time?

▪ Current relationship – are you starting from a 
position of trust?



Things to Consider (cont.)

What to include?
▪ Key outcomes from strategic plans & identified needs

▪ Competencies needed to achieve the outcomes (see Dimensions of 
Practice document in references)

Who to include?
▪ Board

▪ Other groups? (depends on outcomes selected – do they directly 
observe the superintendent’s performance

Data collection methods
▪ Interviews/surveys/documents



Things to Consider (cont.)

Who will do the work?

▪ Sub-committee or whole board?
▪ External facilitator/consultant?

Confidentiality
▪ Who is collecting/has access to the data?

Legal/HR aspects

▪ Would the process stand up to legal scrutiny?

Communications

▪ What will be reported out to board, other staff, community?



Summary

▪ Be clear on why you are doing this

▪ Review existing policies & contract

▪ Consider timing and district climate

▪ Mutually decide the areas on which you want to focus

▪ Include the right people

▪ Limit the scope (depth versus breadth)

▪ Do it right or don’t do it! (quick and dirty will come back to 
bite you!)

▪ Consider getting help



Performance Planning and Review

A Positive Alternative to Superintendent Evaluation



Performance Planning and Review
2

Questions to Answer

• Why PPR ?

• What principles guide the process?

• What are the steps?



Performance Planning and Review
3

What’s the Problem?

• Performance review/evaluation is generally disliked

• No evidence that traditional performance review 
improves performance or relationships

• Frequently ignored or left to last minute for contract 
renewal

• Often a paper exercise disconnected from the “real” 
work

• Sometimes used as a dumping ground for saved up 
issues



Performance Planning and Review
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Common Board Concerns

• We’re too busy for this!

• We’re not having problems with our 
Superintendent, so why bother?

• We don’t know enough about a Superintendent’s 
job to do a review.

• We don’t want to damage our relationship with 
the Superintendent.

• This makes us feel uncomfortable



Performance Planning and Review
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Common Superintendent Concerns

• I’m too busy for this!

• They don’t know enough about my job to review 
what I do.

• They are just going to micromanage my work

• Are they unhappy with my work – am I at risk?

• Being under the microscope makes me feel 
uncomfortable



Performance Planning and Review
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Why use PPR?

• To build and maintain relationships

• To increase role understanding

• It’s proactive and preventative

• It demonstrates leadership

• It’s “best practice”



Performance Planning and Review
7

Evaluation vs. PPR

Evaluation PPR

Summative  Formative

Looks back  Looks ahead

Judgmental  Collaborative

Episodic  Ongoing



Performance Planning and Review
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Important Principles

• Mutual responsibility for student 
achievement

• Alignment of vision, goals, and actions

• Goal is to develop performance and 
relationship

• No surprises

• Not to be used as a “gotcha”

• Requires ongoing commitment

• Done “with”, not “to” – Superintendent takes 
equal responsibility/role in process



Performance Planning and Review
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The PPR Cycle

STEP 2

Ongoing 
Communication

STEP 1

Performance 
Planning

STEP 3

Review and 
Learning



Performance Planning and Review
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Step 1: Performance Planning

Facilitated discussion to:

• Agree on 3 or 4 Key Results*
– What is to be achieved

– Based on District goals/priorities

• Agree on 3 or 4 Key Competencies*
– How to achieve Key Results

– Use “Dimensions of Practice” as a guide

• Agree on timelines

* Sampling rather than covering all aspects

* Consider fewer Key Results and Key Competencies 
for the first year



Performance Planning and Review
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Sample Key Result



Performance Planning and Review
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Dimensions of Practice

• Developed by BC Superintendents Association

• Describe knowledge, skills, attitudes important to the 
Superintendent role:
1. Leadership and District Culture

2. Policy and Governance

3. Communications and Community Relations

4. Organizational Management

5. Curriculum Planning and Development

6. Instructional Management and District Accountability

7. Human Resources Management

8. Values and Ethics of Leadership



Performance Planning and Review
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Sample Key Competency



Performance Planning and Review
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Step Two: Ongoing Communication

• Regularly scheduled informal progress check-ins (2)

• Keeps board and superintendent informed

• Reinforces positive results

• Early, preventative discussions if concerns exist

• Revision of plan if needed



Performance Planning and Review
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Step Three: Review and Learning

• Shared summary of progress and check-
ins

• Documentation acknowledging progress 
and challenges

• Planning for ongoing development

• Leads into next cycle



Performance Planning and Review
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The Benefits for Boards

• Focuses priorities and expectations

• Enables alignment of internal/external factors

• Continuous cycle of improvement

• Strengthens Board team

• Builds positive working relationships with Superintendent

• Provides a record of progress



Performance Planning and Review
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The Benefits for Superintendents

• Strengths based, affirmative process

• Deep, reflective and relevant process

• Process and documentation in partnership with Board

• Better understanding of the work of senior leaders

• Opportunity for high level growth planning



Performance Planning and Review
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Other Considerations

• Keep it strengths-based

• “Touchstone” versus constant scrutiny

• Dealing with data collection challenges

• Authoring the report & closing the cycles

• Starting small & internal

• Remember the overall goal!



Performance Planning and Review
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Summary

• A forward looking, proactive approach

• Shared responsibility

• Focus on development of skills and relationship

• Strengthens communication and role clarification

• Embeds performance review in the Board’s work



Performance Planning and Review
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How BCSTA Can Help

• Provide references to other boards and 
superintendents who have used PPR

• Provide facilitator to guide the process

• Provide support/guidance during the process



  

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 47 (POWELL RIVER)  

4351 Ontario Avenue, Powell River, BC V8A 1V3  

Telephone: 604 485 6271    Fax: 604 485 6435  

  

  

BOARD OF EDUCATION MEETINGS 

2020-2021 SCHOOL YEAR  

(School Board Offices – Board Room – Upstairs)  
Closed Board Meetings 3:30 pm 
Regular Board Meetings 4:00 pm 

Committee of the Whole Meetings 12:00 – 1:30pm 

   

2020   Chairperson for Meetings 

September 9 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

September 23 Committee of the Whole Meeting  Aaron Reid 

October 14 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

October 28 Committee of the Whole Meeting Russell Brewer 

November 10 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

November 25  Committee of the Whole Meeting Dale Lawson 

December 9  Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

December 21 – January 1 Winter Break (Schools re-open Jan 4)   

     

2021     

January 13 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

January 27 Committee of the Whole Meeting Doug Skinner 

February 10  Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

February 24 Committee of the Whole Meeting Jackie Timothy 

March 10 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

March 22 – April 1 Spring Break March 22 – April 2 
Easter Break April 5 – 6 
(Schools re-open April 7)  

 

April 14 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

April 28 Committee of the Whole Meeting Russell Brewer 

May 12 Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

May 26 Committee of the Whole Meeting Dale Lawson 

June 9  Closed and Regular Board Meetings Aaron Reid 

June 23 Committee of the Whole Meeting Doug Skinner 



  

   

Telephone: 604 485 6271    Fax: 604 485 6435 

 

 

 

 

BOARD ANNUAL WORK PLAN 2020-2021 
 

 

  

 July   

  

Events/Action 

 Canadian School Board Associations Congress – July 2nd-5th (Cancelled)  
 

 

  

 August   

  

Agenda Items 
 Back to School Restart Planning 

 

Events/Action 

 Town Hall Forum for a Safe Return to In-Class Instruction 
 
 

  

 September   

  

Agenda Items 
 Board Annual Work Plan (Review) 

 Power to Suspend 

 Maintenance of Order 

 19-20 Annual Report (Review) 

 19-20 Annual Financial Statements (Review) 
 

 

Events/Action 
 Orange Shirt Day – Every Child Matters - September 30th 

 
 
 
 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 47 (POWELL RIVER) 

4351 Ontario Avenue, Powell River, BC V8A 1V3 



 
 
 
 
  

 October   

  

Agenda Items 
 19-20 Annual Report (Receive) 

 20-21 Strategic & School Growth Plan (Review) 

 19-20 Annual Financial Statements (Adoption) 

 Summer Facility Plan Report (Receive) 

 September 30th Enrolment Information 
 
 

Events/Action 
 BCSTA Meeting of Board Chairs – October 15th 

 BCSTA Provincial Council – October 24th  (virtual) 

 Ministry of Education Joint Partner’s Liaison Meeting – October 16th & 30th (virtual) 

 World Teacher Day 
 

 

  

 November   

  

 

Agenda Items 
 Communications Plan (Review) 

 Long Range Facility Plan (Review) 
 

Events/Action 
 Remembrance Day Assemblies 

 Provide Schedule of Winter Concerts 

 BCSTA Trustee Academy – November 27th – 28th  (virtual) 
 
 
  

 December   

Agenda Items 
 Internal Trustee Elections  

 Committee Appointments 

 Statement of Financial Information (Receive) 

 Review of Annual PR Living Communications (Review) 
 

Events/Action 
 Winter Concerts 

 Sign cards for school and staff appreciation baskets 



 
 
 
 
 

  

 January   

  

Agenda Items 
 Strategic & School Growth Plan Interim Reporting (receive) 

 Board Evaluation 

 Superintendent Evaluation  
 

Events/Action 
 Trustee Disclosure Forms Due – January 15th  

 BCPSEA AGM – January 30th - 31st  

 Literacy Week – January 20th – to 27th  
 
 

  

 February   

Agenda Items 
 Amended Annual Budget 

 School Calendar Consultation 
 

Events/Action 
 BCSTA Provincial Council – February 19th – 20th  

 Pink Shirt Day – Anti Bullying  
 

 
  

 March   

 

Agenda Items 
 School Calendar Finalization 

 Review Provincial Motions for the BCSTA AGM 

 21-22 Budget Process Development 
 

Events/Action 
 
  

 April   

  

Agenda Items 
 21-22 Government Grant Review 

 



Events/Action 
 BCSTA Provincial Council – April 18th  
 BCSTA Annual General Meeting – April 15th – 21st  
 Education Week 
 National Professionals Day 

 
  

 May   

  

Agenda Items 
 Annual Facility Grant Planning (Review) 

 

Events/Action 
  

 

 June   

  

Agenda Items 
 Annual Budget (Adoption) 

 Capital Plan (Adoption) 

 Carbon Neutral Action Report (Receive) 

 21-22 Board meeting Calendar (Review) 
 

Events/Action 
 Employee Recognition Luncheon 

 Board Retirement Celebration 

 Graduation Ceremonies 

 Award & Scholarship Event 

 National Indigenous Day 
  

  

  

  

 



Introduction

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

BCSTA's COVID-19 Response Working Group has met weekly through the summer to gather
information pertaining to COVID-19 and K-12 education, both in British Columbia, as well as other
jurisdictions across Canada and around the world.  

Today we are sending out a governance-focused COVID-19 survey to board chairs, asking them to
work with their boards and senior teams to answer the following questions. The goal is to gather
information that will help us better support boards during these challenging times and to assist in
identifying the areas where our advocacy around COVID-19 is best focused.

We would ask that you complete the survey no later than October 2 to allow BCSTA's board to collect
the data and to continue to work on your behalf.
 
Thank you,

Tim Bennett (BOD and SD57)
Carolyn Broady (BOD and SD45)
Korleen Carrerras (SD42)
Bob Holmes (SD36)
Bill MacFarlane (SD19)
Jordan Watters (SD61)
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 Impact on students

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

1. Your school district

Social isolation / youth mental health

Food insecurity

School based supports for vulnerable students / priority learners (i.e. counselling,
student support services.)

Digital inequality

2. How is your district addressing the following issues, and how can BCSTA support you?

3. What percentage of students have returned to school in-person?

1 - 10%

11 - 20%

21 - 30%

31 - 40%

41 - 50%

51 - 60%

61 - 70%

71 - 80%

81 - 90%

91 - 100%

2



4. How is your district working with families who are hesitant to return to in-person learning? 
Select all that apply.

District distributed learning program

School based remote learning model (transitional)

Home schooling

One-on-one meetings between parents and admin focused on gradual return

Other (please specify)

How?

5. Are you working with Indigenous communities and rightsholders on return to school plans?

Yes

No

6. Are there areas of support for vulnerable learners during COVID-19 that BCSTA should advocate for?

Yes

No

What?

3



Governance and engagement

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

7. How is your board communicating with students, unions and parents?

Emails

Town hall meeting

Public board / committee meetings

Surveys

Broadcast advertising

Print advertising

Social media

Videos

Phone calls

Other (please specify)

8. Has your board been meeting with the following groups?

Indigenous rightsholders

Municipal

Provincial 

Federal

Local health authority

None

Other (please specify)

4



9. What is the most important way BCSTA can support your board with governance?

Offer more resources

Offer more professional development

Other (please specify)

10. How can BCSTA best support your board with engagement? 

Rank in order of importance, 1 being most important and 3 being least important.

´

Offer more resources

´

Offer more professional development

´

Hold more trustee town halls

5



Finance

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

11. Has COVID-19 delayed your capital projects?

Yes

No

12. What shovel-ready projects do you have ready to go?

Seismic

Hvac

Roofing

Major renovation

New schools

School additions

Outdoor learning spaces

Environmental updates

Other (please specify)

13.  What percentage of savings of your operating grant did you realize from March to June because of the
impact of COVID-19?

0% percentage of savings 10%

6



14. What will you be using your federal and provincial  funds for?

TTOC costs

Custodial costs

Remote learning

Building upgrades

Additional staffing

Training 

Mental health supports

Transportation

Before and after school care

Other (please specify)

15.  Have you budgeted for increased TTOC costs?

Yes

No

16. How much has your TTOC budget increased due to COVID-19?

0 per cent increase 250

17. How can BCSTA support or advocate for your board on COVID-19 related budget issues?

7



International students

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

18. What is the financial impact of the loss of international student revenues on your district operating budget?

We don't have an international program

<5 per cent of the overall budget

5-10 per cent of the overall budget

10+ per cent of the overall budget 

19. How can BCSTA support or advocate for your district's international program?

8



Mental health

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

20. As a result of COVID-19, our district anticipates some impacts for student well-being and we will be
gathering evidence and discussing how to plan for this at my board table.

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

N/A

21. In light of COVID-19, our district has established a need to build additional supports for resilience and
recovery for our students.

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

N/A

9



Finally

BCSTA COVID-19 Working Group Survey

22. What are the biggest challenges your district faces in the coming school year due to COVID-19?

10
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